The Center for Justice & Democracy's

TOP **30** "TORT REFORM" HYPOCRITES OF **2018**!



By Emily Gottlieb and Joanne Doroshow

June 2018

Center for Justice & Democracy at New York Law School . 185 West Broadway New York NY, 10013 . <u>centerjd@centerjd.org</u>

THE TOP 30

"TORT REFORM" HYPOCRITES OF 2018!



TABLE OF CONTENTS

1.	President Donald J. Trump
2.	U.S. Chamber of Commerce Institute for Legal Reform (ILR)
3.	National Rifle Association (NRA)
4.	National Federation of Independent Business (NFIB)7
5.	General Motors (GM)
6.	Chrysler10
7·	Uber12
8.	Airbnb13
9.	Amazon14
10.	Verizon15
11.	Independent Community Bankers of America (ICBA)15
12.	Debt Collectors16

13.	State Farm	
14.	Liberty Mutual19	
15.	Farmers Insurance	
16.	Honeywell International 20	
17.	Covington & Burling21	
18.	Texas Governors23	
19.	U.S. Senator Ted Cruz (R-TX)23	
20.	Retiring U.S. Representative Darrell Issa (R-CA)	
21.	Former Alaska Governor Sarah Palin25	
22.	Ted Frank, Director, Center for Class Action Fairness	
23.	Koch Industries/Georgia-Pacific	
24.	ExxonMobil/Rex Tillerson	
25.	Amway/parent Alticor	
26.	Bayer Corporation	
27.	Burlington Northern Santa Fe Railroad (BNSF)31	
28.	Pfizer	
29.	Teva Pharmaceutical	
30.	Procter & Gamble (P&G)33	
About the Center for Justice & Democracy at New York Law School		
Notes .		

THE TOP **30** "TORT REFORM" HYPOCRITES OF 2018

This is the fourth in the Center for Justice & Democracy's "Hypocrites of Tort Reform" series, which began 18 years ago with our study, *Not in My Backyard: The Hypocrites of "Tort Reform."*^A What's a "tort reform" hypocrite? It's someone who complains about people who file lawsuits and says compensation to injured people should be limited. Yet when they've been harmed, they go straight to court and sue for everything they can. No one likes a hypocrite. Yet one would be hard pressed to find more hypocrites than in the "tort reform" movement.

It's been a number of years since CJ&D's last "Hypocrite" report, and some may wonder why now? The answer is simple: today's political environment has produced a critical mass of new examples, and it was time to collect and rank some of the highlights – our "Top 30" to be exact. Of course, 2018 isn't over yet. So let's just say, we're just getting started.

One might compare our "rankings" to other civil justice "rankings," like those produced by the American Tort Reform Association (*Judicial Hellholes*) or the U.S. Chamber of Commerce ("legal climate" rankings).² Like those "rankings," CJ&D's list is based on subjective opinion – except, of course, instead of representing the views of industries that have been hauled into court for hurting or killing people, or people who want to make life better for companies like that, our rankings reflect the outlook of everyone else.

We look at factors like: the sheer volume of cases these hypocrites bring, or how recently they've gone to court (to establish this is a present-day problem), while they attack the legal rights of others; their involvement with groups like the U.S. Chamber Institute for Legal Reform (ILR) or the American Legislative Exchange Council's Civil Justice Task Force, which write and support bills to protect corporate lawbreakers³; a company's use of forced arbitration clauses and class action waivers, blocking harmed individuals and small businesses from bringing them to court; or just general civil justice "two-facedness." And now and then, we throw in a little humor because sometimes you just have to laugh. Shall we begin?

1. President Donald J. Trump

Donald J. Trump earns the position of civil justice hypocrite-in-chief simply because his hypocrisy is one for the record books. Trump has tried to block the courthouse doors to others in his business dealings and during his year and a half as President. But when he believes that he or his companies have been wronged in some way, he has always run straight to court. He has done so thousands of times.

Trump has long used forced arbitration clauses to prevent anyone from bringing legal cases in open court against him.⁴ Typical is the case involving Stormy Daniels, a former adult film actress who received "hush money" before the 2016 presidential election as she shopped a story about a sexual liaison with Trump a decade earlier. On May 3, 2018, Trump tweeted (referring to his lawyer and fixer, Michael Cohen)⁵:

Mr. Cohen, an attorney, received a monthly retainer, not from the campaign and having nothing to do with the campaign, from which he entered into, through reimbursement, a private contract between two parties, known as a non-disclosure agreement, or NDA. These agreements are.... ...very common among celebrities and people of wealth. In this case it is in full force and effect and will be used in Arbitration for damages against Ms. Clifford (Daniels). The agreement was used to stop the false and extortionist accusations made by her about an affair.....

As the *Associated Press* reported during election season, "In his businesses and presidential campaign, Trump requires nearly everyone to sign legally binding nondisclosure agreements prohibiting them from releasing any confidential or disparaging information about the real estate mogul, his family or his companies," with disputes subject to arbitration at the "sole discretion of Trump and others protected by the agreement."⁶ Moreover, the "agreement is binding during employment and 'at all times thereafter."⁷

These days, "Trump reportedly is frustrated that, as president, he can't make federal employees sign nondisclosure agreements and can't block them from suing...."⁸ But that doesn't mean he has been completely unsuccessful in his quest. In November 2017, Trump signed into law a repeal of the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau rule that had allowed defrauded consumers to join with others to bring class action lawsuits against financial institutions over financial products and services. Since taking office, his administration has also stripped away the legal rights of workers, farmers, investors, students and sexual harassment, sexual assault and discrimination survivors.⁹ In his first State of the Union address, Trump called for laws that eliminate the legal rights of victims of medical malpractice.

He took the same position in a June 2017 White House "Statement of Administration Policy" and in his Fiscal Year 2019 budget.

On the other hand, Trump and/or his businesses have filed more than 1,900 civil cases over the past three decades.¹⁰ These include:

- In 2009, Trump filed a defamation lawsuit seeking \$2.5 billion in compensation and \$2.5 billion in punitive damages after an author claimed Trump was a millionaire not a billionaire.¹¹ The case was rejected by a New Jersey court and on appeal.¹²
- "Trump sued for \$4.5 million over unpaid royalties after a company that had been paying him to call its liquor Trump Vodka fell on hard times during the economic downturn, hurting sales of pricier spirits. The company stopped making its licensing payments, and Trump terminated the deal and sued to recoup money. He won a judgment for the amount, though it's unclear whether he ever collected from the troubled company."¹³
- A Trump entity building a golf course "sued a contractor for more than \$25 million, saying it overcharged for excavation work at the site and then walked off the job when it didn't get paid."¹⁴
- Trump entity 40 Wall Street LLC pursued a contempt order against a company that failed to comply with a subpoena-ordered deposition related to \$600K in back rent.¹⁵
- "Miss Universe LP, partly owned by Trump, sued to confirm a \$5 million arbitration award against Sheena Monnin, a former Miss Pennsylvania USA and Miss USA Pageant contestant. Miss Universe claimed Monnin falsely stated on her Facebook page and on the 'Today' show that the contest was fixed and called the organization 'fraudulent, lacking in morals, inconsistent and in many ways trashy."" Trump won.¹⁶
- As summarized in the Washington Post,¹⁷ Trump has sued: "Palm Beach County, Fla., because of the 'malicious' jet noise above Mar-a-Lago": Bill Maher "after the comedian challenged Trump to prove he was not the spawn of an orangutan"; the Chicago Tribune "for \$500 million because its architecture critic said Trump's idea for the world's tallest tower was silly"; "neighbors of the Trump National Doral Miami for vandalizing palm trees"; and "two business executives for using the name 'Trump,' even though their surname was also Trump."

More recently, while president, Trump's company has sued towns all over the nation for tax breaks. As an April 2018 *ProPublica* investigation¹⁸ revealed,

President Donald Trump is famous for bragging about his net worth. Publicly, he claims he's worth more than \$10 billion. ...Yet quietly in another setting, the Trump Organization says the president's holdings are worth far less than he has proclaimed. Across the country, the Trump Organization is suing local governments, claiming it owes much less in property taxes than government assessors say because its properties are worth much less than they've been valued at. In just one example, the company has asserted that its gleaming waterfront skyscraper in Chicago is worth less than nothing.

Since becoming president, Trump's companies have filed at least nine new lawsuits against municipalities in Florida, New York and Illinois, arguing for lower tax bills, ProPublica has found. Some of those lawsuits have been previously reported. At stake is millions of dollars that communities use to fund roads, schools and police departments.

And most recently, when a New York State Supreme Court Justice ruled that a 46-story New York City condominium building could remove bronze lettering spelling out Trump's name, Trump's lawyer responded by threatening "legal proceedings to not only prevent such unauthorized action, but to also recover the significant amount of damages, costs and attorney's fees."¹⁹

2. U.S. Chamber of Commerce Institute for Legal Reform (ILR)

In 1998, the U.S. Chamber of Commerce created its "Institute for Legal Reform" (ILR) to pursue the Chamber's national anti-civil justice "tort reform" agenda. Since then, ILR has spent millions on federal lobbying in an effort to keep victims from having their cases heard before a civil judge or jury.²⁰ ILR now constitutes one of the largest federal lobbying forces in the nation, spending over \$22 million in 2017 alone.²¹ This amount is separate from the massive lobbying spender in the Chamber itself (\$82 million in 2017),²² which makes the Chamber the top lobbying spender in the country. As U.S. Chamber President Tom Donohue boasted in 2014, "Our Institute for Legal Reform is fighting the expansion of lawsuits on all fronts – in the Congress, in the federal agencies, in the states, and even around the globe where U.S. companies are getting sued."²³ In the current Congress, ILR lobbied for, among other bills: H.R. 720, which would chill the filing of meritorious cases; H.R. 985, which would destroy class

actions and harm asbestos victims; H.R. 725, a corporate forum-shopping bill to advantage big companies; and H.R. 1215, which would strip away the rights of harmed patients, abused and neglected nursing home residents and victims of some unsafe drugs.²⁴

In addition, the Chamber and ILR are "increasingly major player[s] in advancing the [American Legislative Exchange Council] (ALEC) tort reform agenda" of passing legislation that undermines the civil justice system.²⁵ For more than 25 years, ALEC has had an entire division, a "Civil Justice Task Force," devoted solely to weakening or eliminating corporate liability for wrongdoing.²⁶ Its work and members are secret,²⁷ but some documents have leaked exposing Task Force membership for certain years.²⁸ From these documents, it's clear that the Chamber and ILR are longtime members of ALEC's Civil Justice Task Force,²⁹ most recently registering to attend its 2017 meeting at ALEC's 44th annual conference in Denver.³⁰ An investigative report by the Center for Media and Democracy found at least 71 bills resembling "models" from ALEC that were introduced in 30 states in 2013, all of which "make it harder for average Americans to access the civil justice system" and "provide relief and protections for the industries who wrote them."³¹

But the Chamber only objects to certain kinds of lawsuits: the ones against its own members for negligence and lawbreaking. Otherwise, the Chamber sues like crazy. Over the last 10 years, for example, "the Chamber has been involved in over 1100 lawsuits, either as a plaintiff or as an amicus curiae."³² Within the past five months of 2018 alone, the Chamber's Litigation Center has already filed or joined over 60 amicus briefs.³³

Moreover, the Chamber freely admits to its "having-it-both-ways" attitude, with its President Donohue telling the *Washington Examiner* in 2015: "We spend half of our time trying to reduce the number of suits by class-action lawyers and the other half of our time suing the hell out of the government. We sue the federal government and units of the federal government and some state governments, 180-90 times a year."³⁴ A 2016 Public Citizen study, which examined 501 of the Chamber's most recent cases, corroborated Donohue's claims, finding that³⁵

- "The Chamber files a case or amicus brief roughly every other day of the 5 day work week."
- "The number one legal issue addressed by the Chamber is restricting access to the courts, defined for the purposes of this analysis as issues relating to arbitration and/or class actions. More than a fifth of Chamber cases dealt with such civil justice issues. Employment and labor relations issues were second. Environmental issues were third."

• "The industry most frequently assisted by the Chamber's litigation efforts is the financial services industry, supported in a total of 88 cases. Energy & utilities is next at 80 cases, and Pharmaceuticals and healthcare is third at 50 cases."

3. National Rifle Association (NRA)

In 2005, after intense lobbying by the NRA,³⁶ Congress passed the Protection of Lawful Commerce in Arms Act (PLCAA), which then-President George W. Bush signed into law. This law provides gun manufacturers, dealers, distributors and trade associations with immunity from lawsuits brought by gun violence victims, cities and counties. The NRA has continued to aggressively defend the PLCAA since its passage, recently telling the Connecticut Supreme Court that, per the statute, gun companies shouldn't face civil liability for manufacturing and selling military-style assault rifles that were used to kill 20 children and 6 adults at Sandy Hook Elementary School. In its 2017 amicus brief, "the National Rifle Association argued that allowing the case to move forward threatened to 'eviscerate' the gun companies' legal protections."³⁷

The NRA has also pursued a state-focused "tort reform" agenda through ALEC. Florida's Stand Your Ground "shoot first" law was the statute at the heart of the controversy over George Zimmerman's killing of Trayvon Martin in 2012. It now exists in at least 22 states (including Florida),³⁸ with Wyoming slated to join this group in July 2018 "after a hard-fought legislative effort pushed by gun rights advocates and the National Rifle Association."³⁹ Buried in the statute is a provision that confers absolute civil immunity on perpetrators who successfully avoid arrest and prosecution under this law, stripping crime victims of their legal rights and access to the courts. This bill was written by the NRA. As the Center for Media and Democracy reported,⁴⁰

The NRA and its lobbyist Marion Hammer helped draft the "stand your ground" law and first pushed it in Florida. Florida Senator Durell Peaden, an ALEC member, introduced the law in his state and it passed in early 2005 as the NRA's Hammer reportedly "stared down legislators as they voted." After Governor Jeb Bush signed it into law, Hammer presented the bill to ALEC's Criminal Justice Task Force (now known as the Public Safety and Elections Task Force) months later.

Notably, ALEC's association with this highly controversial law began a stream of high-profile corporate defections. $^{\!\!\!^{41}}$

In addition to "Stand Your Ground" laws, the NRA has lately had success with enactment of its so-called "Business Liability Protection Act" in March 2018. The NRA-backed law – which allows employees to keep firearms locked in their cars while parked on their employers' property – also provides employers with civil immunity if they're sued because of the weapon.⁴²

Yet the NRA regularly sues in civil court. Examples of recent headlines speak for themselves: "NRA, Olympic Shooter Sue California Over Its Restrictions on Ammunition Sales^{#43} (April 2018); "NRA files federal lawsuit challenging Florida gun-safety bill^{#44} (March 2018); "NRA backs lawsuit claiming NJ handgun policy is 'unconstitutional^{#45} (February 2018); "NRA threatens lawsuit after US Virgin Islands governor orders weapons seizure^{#46} (September 2017); "NRA files second lawsuit challenging state gun laws, this time targeting ban on highcapacity magazines^{#47} (May 2017); "NRA files lawsuit over ban on assault weapons in Mass.^{#48} (January 2017); "NRA sues Seattle over \$25 gun tax^{#49} (August 2015); "Philadelphia, Pennsylvania, sued by NRA along with 2 other cities⁵⁰ (January 2015).

On May 4, 2018, the NRA sued an insurance broker, "alleging the firm breached its contract to administer an insurance program for the firearms advocacy group."⁵¹ As reported by the *Wall Street Journal*, "The NRA said its lawsuit aims to recover damages and 'to bring to light the mechanics and consequences of an ongoing, unconstitutional blacklisting campaign being pursued by regulatory authorities in New York.'⁵² And on May 11, 2018, the NRA "sued New York Governor Andrew Cuomo and the state's financial regulator for engaging in what it said was a 'blacklisting campaign' aimed at swaying banks and insurers to stop doing business with the gun advocacy group."⁵³ Said the Governor, "The NRA's lawsuit is a futile and desperate attempt to advance its dangerous agenda to sell more guns.'"⁵⁴

4. National Federation of Independent Business (NFIB)

When surveyed, small businesses virtually always put issues like "lawsuits," "liability," "tort reform" or the cost of "liability insurance" at the bottom of any list of concerns.⁵⁵ Perhaps the most striking example of this are surveys of small business priorities conducted by the National Federation of Independent Business (NFIB).⁵⁶ In its most recent survey of small business NFIB members, the issue "Cost and Frequency of Lawsuits/Threatened Lawsuits" ranked *68 out of 75 possible issues of concern to small businesses*. It was listed among the problems of *least concern to small business members*. It was of less concern to them than "Access to High-Speed Internet."⁵⁷ Yet because NFIB generally lobbies for laws that "favor large corporate interests

and run counter to the interests of small businesses,"⁵⁸ it pays no attention to these findings and pushes a civil justice agenda that can harm its own members.⁵⁹

More specifically, lawsuits sometimes provide the only way for small businesses to recover money as a result of illegal corporate misconduct targeting them.⁶⁰ A good example led to the 2013 U.S. Supreme Court case, *American Express v. Italian Colors Restaurant*, ⁶¹ which was brought by Italian Colors restaurant, a small business in Oakland, California. AmEx's merchant agreement violated antitrust laws so the owner, Alan Carlson, filed a class action lawsuit against AmEx on behalf of other small businesses like his. However, AmEx's merchant contracts contained forced arbitration clauses and class action bans. According to those terms, Mr. Carlson was not allowed to join with others in a class action lawsuit but rather had to bring his antitrust case in a private arbitration system all by himself – an impossibility because the cost to one person of bringing an antitrust action against a huge company like American Express is prohibitive.⁶² The U.S. Supreme Court did not care. It upheld AmEx's forced arbitration clause and class action the small business from litigating its case.

Rather than working to undo this decision or acknowledging that small businesses like Italian Colors Restaurant are often plaintiffs in cases, NFIB's representatives went to Congress to attack "plaintiff attorneys," their "outlandish claims" and their "perverse incentive to threaten or initiate a legal action."⁶³ The group justifies its nationwide campaign to limit victims' rights by saying small businesses live in a "climate of fear"⁶⁴ over lawsuits – even though their own members repeatedly say that is nonsense.

Yet even if NFIB's lobbying operations were not failing its own members, there would still be plenty to say about the organization's "tort reform" hypocrisy. Like the U.S. Chamber of Commerce, NFIB lobbies for federal limits on victims' rights, including a corporate forumshopping bill to advantage big companies⁶⁵ and legislation that places unnecessary roadblocks in the way of cases brought by, among others, small businesses, consumers and civil rights victims.⁶⁶ NFIB has also been an active member of ALEC's Civil Justice Task Force⁶⁷ in at least 2011 and 2017, according to publicly released documents.⁶⁸

While attacking everyone else's rights, however, the NFIB itself routinely litigates. In fact, it has its own "Small Business Legal Center," which is described on the Center's website as follows: "We do what federal and state NFIB lobbyists do, but instead of lobbying legislators we lobby judges through briefs and oral arguments in court."⁶⁹ Visitors to the website are invited to "SEE THE CASES NFIB LEGAL CENTER IS FIGHTING IN ACROSS THE US" by way of an interactive U.S. map where you can "Double Click on your state to see the listings of cases NFIB is playing a role in."⁷⁰ The Center's most current Annual Report presents a similar picture

of nationwide legal activity, stating, "2016 was our busiest and most successful year to date...with the Legal Center filing 61 briefs in state and federal courts across the country to ensure that judges know where small business stands in cases that will have a big impact on their bottom lines and freedom to do business going forward."⁷¹ In addition, the Center's website provides a list of "cases NFIB has helped win in the courtroom."⁷² Moreover, the Center recently reported annual expenses of over \$1.1 million in 2016.⁷³

Auto Companies: General Motors (5) and Chrysler (6)

When General Motors (GM) and Chrysler filed for bankruptcy in 2009, both companies sought immunity from all products liability suits involving the tens of millions of GM and Chrysler cars then on the road. The two companies were responsible for nearly half of all defect claims against auto manufacturers in the country. At the time, there were hundreds of serious injuries or deaths due to cars designed or built with defects every year.⁷⁴ (Notably, GM's Vice President and General Counsel, Robert S. Osborne, was then on the Board of Directors of the U.S. Chamber of Commerce Institute for Legal Reform, which was lobbying to limit the rights of injury victims.⁷⁵)

After a lot of pressure, both companies relented but only somewhat. They no longer insisted on immunity for deaths and injuries caused by crashes occurring post-bankruptcy. However, they did demand – and were granted by the bankruptcy court – immunity for injuries or deaths from any crash that occurred before 2010.

5. General Motors (GM)

To obtain this immunity, GM hid from the bankruptcy court a lethal ignition switch defect, which caused vehicles to lose control and had already caused numerous crashes, injuries and deaths.⁷⁶ Once the scandal was revealed several years later, leading to the recall of millions of defective cars, GM ran to the bankruptcy court to try to "shut down a rising tide of class-action lawsuits" over the defect which, by then, had been linked to over a dozen deaths.⁷⁷ *Bloomberg* also noted, "GM is fighting more than 100 lawsuits over the recalled cars' declining prices, claims for injuries and deaths and the alleged waste of corporate assets."⁷⁸

In 2016, harmed customers had some success in court when the 2nd Circuit ruled that by failing to disclose the ignition switch defect to the bankruptcy court, GM had "prevented crash victims from making claims or contesting the bankruptcy provisions, robbing them of due process."⁷⁹

The court essentially voided the immunity GM had received for these cars and, in April 2017, the U.S. Supreme Court let that ruling stand.⁸⁰ It's been over a year since that decision and victims are still seeking resolution of their legal claims.⁸¹

Meanwhile, throughout this entire debacle, the company never hesitated to aggressively pursue its own interests in court. For example, it "asked a federal judge in Washington to keep confidential information related to its 2009 government rescue" from the Center for Auto Safety, which had been stymied in its attempt to get information via a Freedom of Information Act request, and "sued the Treasury in 2011 for business information that GM turned over to the government before the bailout."⁸²

And it has filed many other cases as well. For example,

- From December 2014 until its stipulation of dismissal a year and a half later,⁸³ GM continued to assert copyright and breach of contract claims against a maker of diagnostic tools for cars.⁸⁴
- In April 2018, the automaker filed suit⁸⁵ seeking nearly \$10 million from a Chicago-area dealership group, claiming it "breached an exclusive-use agreement in the sale of its Chevrolet and Cadillac dealership assets"⁸⁶ and caused GM to incur brand-related losses. Within eight days of filing the complaint, GM moved to voluntarily dismiss the case; the court granted the motion.⁸⁷
- As of publication, the automaker continues to pursue its now multiyear litigation against aftermarket parts sellers,⁸⁸ who allegedly committed copyright infringement "by making and selling vehicle control modules that contain unauthorized copies of Plaintiffs' copyrighted software, and by overriding the security measures used in Plaintiffs' vehicle control modules in order to program these modules with unauthorized copies of Plaintiffs' copyrighted software."⁸⁹ GM seeks,⁹⁰ among other things, "damages to compensate GM for the injuries caused by the Defendants, together with any applicable interest," "enhanced damages for willful and intentional infringement" and a jury trial.

6. Chrysler

Like GM, Chrysler (which became Fiat Chrysler Automobiles, a.k.a. FCA US or "New Chrysler," after being sold in 2009) continued to fight victims in court after receiving products liability

immunity for pre-2010 crashes. As recently as November 2017, FCA tried and failed to convince a bankruptcy court that it was immune from vehicle owners' claims for faulty repairs.⁹¹ That same month, another judge in a different case also rejected FCA's immunity argument as the company sought to avoids product liability claims related to the death of a pregnant 23-year-old woman who "was killed in 2014 when her Jeep Liberty exploded when hit from behind. The 2003 vehicle had been under recall because of the placement of the gas tank."⁹²

And just like GM, Chrysler regularly runs to court when it has something to gain financially:

- In August 2016, FCA went to court seeking a jury trial and compensation for an alleged defective design component that failed to meet contractual specifications.⁹³ A stipulated order dismissing the case was entered in February 2018.⁹⁴
- In April 2017, FCA filed a lawsuit, claiming that a seller of new and used automotive diagnostic equipment and shop tools committed breach of contract plus willful and intentional copyright infringement regarding FCA's wiTECH diagnostic application.⁹⁵ Three months later, the case closed after the court entered a permanent injunction and FCA's notice of voluntary dismissal.⁹⁶
- In July 2017, the 6th Circuit affirmed summary judgment in the automaker's suit against a dealership that allegedly "breached its contract by failing and refusing to submit complete architectural plans and specifications to [FCA] for the renovations of its existing facility."⁹⁷
- As of publication, FCA is suing its former lawyer who allegedly used "confidential and proprietary client information to benefit plaintiffs in warranty litigation against FCA US."⁹⁸

In addition, Chrysler is now requiring employees to sign employment contracts with forced arbitration clauses and class action waivers, denying workers' access to the courts if they have been cheated, harassed, abused or discriminated against. In a recent Michigan case, for example, Chrysler succeeded in preventing a number of salaried, nonunion black employees from filing a civil rights class action against the company, forcing these employees to "arbitrate their claims individually."⁹⁹ This is an unrealistic option for any employee trying to prove not only their own discrimination but also any sort of company-wide pattern.¹⁰⁰ (See more about forced arbitration below.)

Forced Arbitration Hypocrites: Uber (7), Airbnb (8), Amazon (9) Verizon (10) Independent Community Bankers of America (ICBA) (11) and Debt Collectors (12)

It is a fundamental precept of American democracy that injured or violated people are entitled to vindicate their rights in court. However, recent Supreme Court cases have allowed corporations to strip away this basic right by taking away consumer, employee and small business access to civil trials and forcing them to resolve disputes in secretive, corporate-controlled, rigged arbitration systems via mandatory arbitration clauses. Such clauses also typically prevent harmed individuals from joining together with other victims in class action lawsuits.¹⁰¹

These days, most companies put forced arbitration clauses and class action waivers in any document they can in order to avoid legal accountability to someone they've harmed. Some corporations and industries stand out as particular hypocrites, since they do not hesitate to use the civil courts when they feel their own rights have been violated. The following got our attention.

7. Uber

Auto companies, like Hypocrite #5, General Motors, have a long history of cutting safety corners and fighting compensation to those injured or killed in crashes. Tech companies have now joined automakers rushing to be the first on the road with driverless cars. Unfortunately, newer companies involved in autonomous vehicle (AV) technology, like Uber, show no signs of operating any differently from the auto industry. As Uber's former autonomous vehicle head, Anthony Levandowski, put it in a series of 2016 texts to former Uber CEO Travis Kalanick: "I just see this as a race and we need to win, second place is first loser," and "We do need to think through the strategy to take all the shortcuts we can find."¹⁰²

As important as it is to establish a strong safety regime for AV cars, providing a civil remedy in the event of a car accident, injury or fatality is also critical. Yet the use of forced arbitration clauses could undermine the entire liability structure no matter how expressly the law attempts to preserve legal rights. Companies like Uber currently use such clauses to keep many kinds of disputes out of court.¹⁰³ In a recent Uber autonomous car crash where an innocent pedestrian was killed, Uber quickly and confidentially settled with the family before a lawsuit was filed.¹⁰⁴ It is not known how Uber might have responded if the family had gotten

to court. However, as long as forced arbitration clauses are considered legal, an at-fault company can decide whether or not to compel their use in an individual case. That is why many U.S. Senators have tried to determine whether Uber and others intend to use forced arbitration clauses in autonomous vehicle contracts and the intended scope of such clauses.¹⁰⁵

Uber can be commended for agreeing to no longer force cases involving sexual assault into arbitration, bowing to pressure from sexual assault victims.¹⁰⁶ But the fact remains that the company still insists on using class action waivers to prevent victims from joining with others in court and continues using forced arbitration clauses and class action bans in every other kind of dispute, whether the case involves employees, drivers or users of the Uber app.¹⁰⁷ For example, just recently, the company successfully compelled arbitration in a price-fixing case involving Uber fares, with a court throwing out a customer's class action after finding that the arbitration clause "was right there, lurking within a 'terms and conditions' page hyperlinked on his smartphone. Once he clicked the 'I agree' button to set up his account, he was 'sunk.'"¹⁰⁸ The company is also now demanding that a federal court "dissolve a class of hundreds of thousands of current and former Uber drivers who allege they were misclassified as independent contractors and denied fair wages," claiming they are bound by forced arbitration clauses and class action waivers.¹⁰⁹

Yet the same rules don't apply to Uber. For example, in September 2017, the company filed a lawsuit seeking at least \$40 million for harms Uber says it suffered after a mobile ad agency "misrepresented the effectiveness of its mobile ads," among other things.¹¹⁰ A company representative told *Law360*, "While we believe litigation should always be a last resort, we hope this action will help bring more attention to the problem of online ad fraud."¹¹¹ Uber withdrew the suit in December 2017.¹¹² And as of publication, Uber continues to pursue a lawsuit to uncover the identity of someone who allegedly "stole information from a database containing names and driver's license numbers for 50,000 current and former drivers."¹¹³

8. Airbnb

To use its service, Airbnb requires customers to settle "any dispute, claim or controversy" through binding arbitration and waive "the right to participate as a plaintiff or class member in any purported class action lawsuit, class-wide arbitration, private attorney-general action, or any other representative proceeding as to all Disputes."¹¹⁴ Reports the *New York Times*, "When there is litigation, Airbnb has not been afraid to use the class-action waiver clause. In March [2016], the company cited the clause in fighting a class-action suit that accused Airbnb

of acting as an unlicensed real estate broker. The company said the suit was moot because the plaintiffs had agreed to waive their class-action rights and, in a related clause, agreed to resolve disputes through individual arbitration."¹¹⁵ More recently, in October 2017, the U.S. Supreme Court allowed Airbnb to force a user into arbitration when he attempted to pursue a class action discrimination suit after a host on the site allegedly denied him accommodation because of his race.¹¹⁶

Yet when Airbnb believes it has suffered "harm" from local regulatory laws, as it recently felt regarding San Francisco and New York City, "two of its biggest markets in the United States," it sues.¹¹⁷ In June 2016, Airbnb went to court seeking an injunction to block forthcoming amendments to San Francisco law requiring short-term rental companies to police their websites, remove unregistered hosts and pay \$1,000 per day for every unregistered host on its service.¹¹⁸ The parties eventually settled.¹¹⁹ Then in October 2016, "[h]ours after Gov. Andrew M. Cuomo of New York signed a bill that would impose steep fines on Airbnb hosts who break local housing regulations, Airbnb filed a federal lawsuit contending the new law would cause it 'irreparable harm.''¹²⁰ The following month, Airbnb settled with the state Attorney General after it was agreed that the AG would not take any action to enforce the law but instead have New York City handle compliance and enforcement.¹²¹ The month after that, Airbnb dropped its suit against New York City after the city "agreed that the law would not be enforced against the company.''¹²²

9. Amazon

As a condition of consumers' using Amazon services, "[a]ny dispute or claim relating in any way to your use of any Amazon Service, or to any products or services sold or distributed by Amazon or through Amazon.com will be resolved by binding arbitration, rather than in court, except that you may assert claims in small claims court if your claims qualify." In addition, "any dispute resolution proceedings will be conducted only on an individual basis and not in a class, consolidated or representative action. If for any reason a claim proceeds in court rather than in arbitration we each waive any right to a jury trial."¹²³

Yet Amazon clearly understands the importance of litigation, and makes unfettered use of the civil courts in order to protect its interests. In August 2017, Amazon sued after patent-licensing companies allegedly infringed on Amazon's conference call patent.¹²⁴ That case is pending. Four months later, the company sued "two con-men and their companies that trade on the Amazon name to convince thousands of people around the country to sign up for their 'selling on Amazon' training programs and to buy their wholesale products to sell on Amazon.com.

Posing as Amazon in aggressive marketing campaigns, they pitch a get-rich-quick scheme to hopeful entrepreneurs wanting to learn how to join Amazon's third-party seller program."¹²⁵ In addition, the company has a history of filing lawsuits to stop fake reviews.¹²⁶

10. Verizon

Verizon's "Customer Agreement" states: "You and Verizon both agree to resolve disputes only by arbitration or in small claims court. You understand that by this agreement you are giving up the right to bring a claim in court or in front of a jury." Moreover, "This agreement doesn't allow class or collective arbitrations...."¹²⁷ Similarly, as *Ars Technica* recently reported, "Verizon is forcing users of Yahoo services to waive their class-action rights and agree to resolve disputes through arbitration. Yahoo users who don't agree to the new terms will be cut off from the services, though Verizon hasn't said exactly when the cutoff date is."¹²⁸

However, whenever small cities and towns tell Verizon Wireless that it can't build an ugly cellphone tower in their area, the company runs straight to court. There have been several such lawsuits just in the last two years. For example, in August 2016, Verizon Wireless sued the city of Appleton, WI after it rejected the company's bid for a cell tower permit.¹²⁹ The following year, the company sued the town of Clifton Park, NY, which had rejected its application for a cellphone tower.¹³⁰ Verizon also sued Clarksburg, MA in 2017 for "wrongfully denying its application to build a cell tower."¹³¹ And this past February, Verizon Wireless sued over "Hudson Valley town's decision denying its request for a wetlands permit to build a wireless facility."¹³²

11. Independent Community Bankers of America (ICBA)¹³³

This business association has been a vigorous opponent of efforts to eliminate forced arbitration in consumer financial contracts – writing letters to Congress,¹³⁴ submitting comments to the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau (CFPB),¹³⁵ putting out press releases¹³⁶ and even publicizing that ICBA President and CEO Camden Fine stood behind President Trump as he signed into law a repeal of the CFPB rule that had allowed defrauded consumers to join with others to bring class action lawsuits against banks over financial products and services.¹³⁷ "Arbitration is a well-established and tested process that offers better results for consumers ..." ICBA said in a November 1, 2017 press release.¹³⁸

Yet within weeks of the CFPB repeal ceremony, ICBA filed a class action lawsuit against Equifax seeking "monetary relief for community banks affected by the breach of at least 145.5 million consumer records and 209,000 payment cards."¹³⁹ In announcing the suit, ICBA's President and CEO said, "ICBA and the nation's community banks are deeply troubled by the massive and preventable data breach at Equifax and its impact on community banks, consumers, small businesses and the economy. Today's lawsuit demands remedial action because Equifax needs to be held accountable for this massive and preventable catastrophic event."¹⁴⁰ The case is pending.

12. Debt Collectors

A *New York Times* investigation¹⁴¹ uncovered this hypocrisy, reporting that debt collection companies "are using the courts to sue consumers and collect debt, then preventing those same consumers from using the courts to challenge the companies' tactics," pushing "the parameters of that legal strategy into audacious new territory." Reported the *NYT*,

- "Perhaps more than any other industry, debt collectors use the courts while invoking arbitration to deny court access to others. The companies file lawsuits seeking to force borrowers to pay debts. Because borrowers seldom show up to challenge the lawsuits, the collectors win almost every case, transforming debts that banks had given up on into big profits."
- "In the case of debt collectors, the arbitration clauses that companies are invoking are often in contracts that borrowers presumably agreed to with their original lenders not with the debt collector. Additionally, debt collectors often cannot produce a copy of the agreement in court, according to records and interviews."
- "The Times, examining thousands of state and federal court records, and interviewing hundreds of lawyers, plaintiffs, industry consultants and judges, found that debt collection companies have already used the strategy to great success. In the cases that The Times examined, judges routinely sided with debt collectors on forcing the disputes into arbitration."

Moreover,

The debt collectors do not just use the courts to collect on the money, they flood them. In 2014, the industry filed roughly 20,000 lawsuits in Maryland and more than 67,000 in New York, according to court records.

Philip S. Straniere, a civil court judge in Staten Island, called some of the cases that crossed his desk "garbage." Some debt collectors, Judge Straniere said, have sought to recoup payments from the wrong person.

Little of that matters, because many defendants do not show up to defend themselves. Some never read nondescript legal notices informing them of the lawsuits. Others who do are too intimidated or ill-equipped to go to court.

Once it begins, the litigation machine is virtually impossible to stop. When defendants are absent, judges have little choice but to find in favor of the debt collectors, according to interviews. Industry consultants estimated that collectors win 95 percent of the lawsuits.

Property/Casualty Insurance Companies: State Farm (13), Liberty Mutual (14) and Farmers (15)

Since at least the 1950s, property/casualty insurance companies have been attacking the civil justice system and injured people who go to court. Insurance companies don't like to pay claims. In the '50s, '60s and '70s, for example, Crum and Foster, Aetna and St. Paul launched direct advertising assaults on the civil jury system.¹⁴² But by the 1980s and 1990s, the industry decided that, if possible, it was best to hide behind others to accomplish its goals, well aware that the public generally detests insurance companies. As a representative from the American Tort Reform Association (ATRA)'s then PR firm explained to an audience, "In a tort reform battle if State Farm – I think they're here, Nationwide – is the leader of the coalition, you're not going to pass the bill. It is not credible, O.K., because it's so self-serving."¹⁴³ As a result, other front groups began hiding insurance industry involvement. For example, when ATRA was founded in 1986, nearly 40 of its members were insurance companies or insurance-related organizations and six ATRA directors worked for insurance companies or law firms that frequently represented insurers.¹⁴⁴

Yet their influence has always been unmistakable. Evidence gathered by over a dozen state attorneys general for an antitrust¹⁴⁵ class action filed in 1988, and settled in 1995, showed that a number of insurance and reinsurance companies had restricted coverage to commercial

customers and increased rates for the purpose of creating an atmosphere intended to coax states into enacting "tort reform."¹⁴⁶ Virtually all such laws were designed to put more money in the pockets of insurance companies, making it more difficult for injured victims to go to court or obtain compensation from a jury.

In addition, throughout history, the insurance industry has been involved in actively conspiring with asbestos companies to suppress knowledge about asbestos hazards, and to limit their liability to pay compensation to sick and dying workers.¹⁴⁷ Insurance companies have been looking for ways to limit their liability and prevent asbestos litigation since at least the 1920s. These companies have all largely avoided accountability for their role in helping to further a five decades-long conspiracy of silence and disinformation about asbestos disease.¹⁴⁸

Today, at the state and/or federal levels, a number of property/casualty insurance companies have been actively lobbying for laws to limit corporate liability for causing harm and are not just hiding behind front groups. Some of these companies stand out as particular hypocrites, since they don't hesitate to use the civil courts to protect their own profits. Three of the nation's top 10 property/casualty companies got our particular attention.¹⁴⁹

13. State Farm

State Farm is the number one property/casualty group in the country. For years, its Chief Legal Officer, Executive Vice President and Secretary, Kim M. Brunner, has been on the Board of the U.S. Chamber's Institute for Legal Reform, including as Chairman of the Board.¹⁵⁰ But State Farm doesn't rely on ILR to be its only voice in Congress or at the state level. At the federal level, State Farm has recently lobbied for H.R. 985, a bill that would both wipe out class action lawsuits and limit the legal rights of asbestos victims.¹⁵¹ The company is also very involved with ALEC,¹⁵² including ALEC's Civil Justice Task Force in at least 2010, 2011 and 2017.¹⁵³

State Farm has a somewhat well-known history of not paying legitimate claims,¹⁵⁴ committing fraud and fighting others in court.¹⁵⁵ But the company also likes to exercise its own rights to file lawsuits (as well as counterclaims in lawsuits against them¹⁵⁶). It recently tried to force another insurance company to pay it back after State Farm shelled out a \$975,000 settlement for serious injuries suffered by a pledge during a fraternity hazing ritual.¹⁵⁷ In January 2017, a federal judge said no.¹⁵⁸ One year earlier, State Farm settled a lawsuit where it again sought to recover money it had paid out, namely \$800,000 in a case involving medical clinics.¹⁵⁹

And in California, State Farm has been part of a relentless legal campaign to undermine the most effective insurance regulatory law in the nation, known as "Prop. 103," passed by voter initiative in 1988.¹⁶⁰ The law has saved California motorists over \$100 billion "by regulating insurance companies to limit price gouging, profiteering, inflated executive salaries and other unjustified expenses."¹⁶¹ For example, in February 2018, the U.S. Supreme Court rejected "a request by Mercury Insurance and lobbyists representing State Farm and other insurance companies to review a 2013 decision rejecting Mercury's request for an 8% increase in its homeowners insurance rates and ordering the company instead to lower its rates by 8%. The insurance companies argued that Proposition 103's rate setting rules violate their constitutional right to earn a fair profit...."¹⁶²

In 2016, State Farm filed suit in San Diego "to block \$250 million in rate reductions and refunds, claiming it can't afford to lower its homeowners insurance premiums, which the Insurance Commissioner determined were excessive."¹⁶³ State Farm won before a judge, but the case may be appealed.¹⁶⁴ Harvey Rosenfield, Prop. 103 author and founder of advocacy group Consumer Watchdog, said that "if this order stands, it would make it easier for big insurance companies to make an end run around Prop. 103 and charge Californians more. He sees the case as part of a larger trend of insurance companies pushing to weaken the law."¹⁶⁵

14. Liberty Mutual

Liberty Mutual, the third largest insurance group in the country, has been an active "tort reform" lobbyist. In 2017 and 2018, it lobbied Congress directly for passage of the FACT Act, which would limit the rights of asbestos victims.¹⁶⁶ Yet the company goes right to court when it feels it's suffered some financial harm, even against individuals. For example, in April 2018, Liberty Mutual "sued a former lead sales representative, alleging she diverted Liberty Mutual clients to her new employer and made off with trade secrets."¹⁶⁷ The case is pending. And as of publication, Liberty Mutual was still pursuing a June 2013 lawsuit against its insured, seeking reimbursement plus a declaratory judgment that it wasn't required to cover certain indemnity costs related to payments or judgments in asbestos actions.¹⁶⁸ An April 10, 2018 docket entry in the case described the situation as follows: "On the recommendation of the mediator, these cases remain stayed until June 29, 2018. No further extensions. The Liberty Mutual case is almost five (5) years old. It is time to move on."¹⁶⁹ And in June 2018, the U.S. Supreme Court declined to take up the company's unsuccessful five-year legal effort to find unconstitutional a New York State decision to shut down a workers compensation fund.¹⁷⁰

15. Farmers Insurance

Farmers Insurance Group checks in as the nation's ninth largest property/casualty insurer¹⁷¹ and makes our list of Top 30 hypocrites. That's because, like State Farm, Farmers is involved with ALEC, including ALEC's Civil Justice Task Force in at least the year 2011.¹⁷² It registered for the 2017 ALEC conference as well (although specific task force interests were not listed for Farmers on the publicly available document).¹⁷³

Meanwhile, Farmers clearly values its own civil justice rights to protect its bottom line, especially when it comes to suing those with fewer resources. For example, in October 2017, the company sued two former employees and the Automobile Club of Michigan for allegedly stealing trade secrets. The case is pending.¹⁷⁴ And while Farmers may not care if an injured consumer is compensated for a defective product, it's an entirely different story when Farmers has to pay a claim. In December 2017, Farmers settled¹⁷⁵ its case against Broan-NuTone for damages it paid concerning a defective bathroom fan after it complained about the "damage" caused by the defective fan.¹⁷⁶ Farmers had filed a similar lawsuit against Broan-NuTone in January 2016 "after its insured sustained property damage from a fire caused by a Broan-NuTone fan."¹⁷⁷ The case is pending.¹⁷⁸

And like State Farm, Farmers has filed numerous legal challenges to the pro-consumer insurance regulatory law, Prop. 103, in California. Specifically, "Farmers Insurance was in two courts at the same time – Los Angeles Superior Court and the Court of Appeal – to stop state regulators from holding a public hearing on charges that the company is using algorithms to overcharge motorists in violation of Proposition 103. After losing its motion to block the California Department of Insurance from investigating Farmers, the company is dropping its litigation."¹⁷⁹

16. Honeywell International

CJ&D is not the first organization to call out this company on its civil justice hypocrisy, specifically as a member of the U.S. Chamber of Commerce's Institute for Legal Reform Board.¹⁸⁰ However, as a producer of unsafe products and a company liable to dying asbestos victims, Honeywell does not rely exclusively on ILR's or ALEC's lobbying muscle. Recent federal reports reveal that the company has lobbied for passage of both H.R. 906, which would harm asbestos victims, and H.R. 985, which would destroy both class actions and the legal rights of asbestos victims.¹⁸¹ The company was also involved with ALEC's Civil Justice Task

Force in at least 2010 and 2011, according to publicly released documents. As late as 2017, it registered for ALEC's annual conference (although not specifically listing the Civil Justice Task Force on publicly available documents).¹⁸²

Yet it's a different story when it comes to protecting Honeywell's bottom line. Honeywell frequently turns to the civil justice system to protect its financial interests, even being featured in CJ&D's original 2000 study, *Not in My Backyard: The Hypocrites of "Tort Reform."*¹⁸³ The years 2017 and 2018 have been no different for the company. As reported by *Law360*, in February 2017, Honeywell "filed an antitrust action against Alarm.com and Icontrol Networks Inc. over a planned \$140 million security technology acquisition deal."¹⁸⁴ Five months later, the case closed.¹⁸⁵ In February 2018, Honeywell filed a complaint for damages after the nation's Nuclear Regulatory Commission "billed it \$1.9 million in connection with sanctions the agency imposed on the company's Illinois uranium conversion facility."¹⁸⁶ The case is pending. And in June 2018, Honeywell sued Exxon Mobil and another company to try to hold them partly responsible for cleanup costs connected to the heavily-polluted Onondaga Lake near Oil City, New York.¹⁸⁷

Honeywell also likes its patents. In 2017, Honeywell announced¹⁸⁸ that it was suing Code Corp., a company that manufactured bar code readers, claiming "widespread patent infringement." They settled in February 2018.¹⁸⁹ It filed another lawsuit in 2017, arguing that indoor air quality manufacturer Aprilaire had committed widespread patent infringement "related to Honeywell's forced air zoning products for residential heating, ventilation, and air conditioning (HVAC) systems."¹⁹⁰ The case is pending.¹⁹¹

17. Covington & Burling

The contingency fee system provides anyone with a legitimate injury case, regardless of their financial means, with access to an attorney. The attorney takes a case without charging any money up front and is paid only if the case is successful. Attorneys who work on contingency fee take a huge risk – if the case is lost, the lawyer is paid nothing. Laws that limit plaintiffs' contingency fees with government-imposed schedules or "caps" make it less likely that attorneys can afford to bring legitimate cases. Such legislation has been a staple of the "tort reform" movement since its inception.¹⁹²

Covington & Burling, a Washington, D.C. corporate law firm, was an early force behind the "tort reform" movement. A huge cache of documents made public during state attorneys general litigation against the tobacco industry in the late 1990s revealed that this firm, which

for decades represented the tobacco industry, would funnel money to "tort reform" groups on behalf of Big Tobacco. The point was to pass laws to keep cigarette companies from ever being sued in court. Covington partner Keith A. Teel was the firm's tobacco point man and even boasted about setting up "tort reform" groups with tobacco money.¹⁹³

In addition to the release of millions of documents, the state tobacco litigation resulted in a \$200 billion settlement. The settlement reimbursed 46 states for costs dealing with one of the biggest public health disasters in modern times. To get this incredible result, the states all used outside law firms, who worked for years without pay and risked being paid nothing at all. As to the fees ultimately paid in the tobacco case, most private counsel gave up the contracted fee (which tended to be around 15 percent, a rate lower than typical 1/3 arrangements) and amiably agreed, along with the tobacco industry, to arbitrated fee decisions.¹⁹⁴

That didn't matter to Covington, however. In 1996, Teel met with Texas Attorney General Dan Morales to try to derail the Texas AG's tobacco suit altogether.¹⁹⁵ Fortunately Texas ignored him, and the industry ultimately paid the state \$15 billion. But Covington's attacks on lawsuits and those who use the civil justice system didn't end in the 1990s. Lately, one of its partners and Trump advisor, Phil Howard, has made a name for himself "attacking corporate regulations and the civil jury system [by] using inflammatory stereotypes about public protection laws and attorneys for the injured to deflect attention from the misdeeds of those he defends."¹⁹⁶ For example, sexual harassment claims should be barred if "just offensive comments" are at issue, says Howard.¹⁹⁷ The alternative, he says, would kill "the spontaneity needed" for a "healthy" work environment. He also derides laws that permit civil rights lawyers to be paid.¹⁹⁸

Given Covington's "tort reform" track record, a March 2018 *BNA Bloomberg* piece set off our hypocrisy detector. Turns out that the D.C.-based firm – with no office in Minnesota – received a \$125 million contingency fee from the state of Minnesota in its environmental lawsuit against 3M Co., which settled on February 20, 2018 for \$850 million. Said Minnesota State Rep. Sarah Anderson (R), "I'm just curious as to why we are paying a law firm \$125 million for seven years of work,' she said. Referring to her own math, she said the sum works out to about \$48,000 per day. 'That seems a little steep.'"

A Covington spokesman snapped back with a "not very self-aware" statement: "Our work on the NRD case involved a contingency fee arrangement, the attendant risk that we might receive no fee whatsoever, and dedicated efforts by our team in hard-fought, complex litigation lasting over seven years."²⁰⁰ Indeed.

18. Texas Governors

Some Texas Governors sure like to sue while eliminating everyone else's rights. Take former Texas Attorney General and current Governor, Greg Abbott. First as a member of the Texas Supreme Court, Abbot "began adopting tighter standards for losses that involved pain and suffering and mental anguish."²⁰¹ As state AG and Governor, he has supported many kinds of "tort reforms" to make it harder for injured people to receive adequate compensation or even to sue at all.²⁰²

But during his gubernatorial run, it was revealed that when his "spine was crushed by a falling oak tree in 1984," he sued and won millions of dollars in compensation. At that point, he had "received about \$5.8 million and is entitled to monthly income from the settlement until he dies."²⁰³ Most of what he receives is compensation for "noneconomic losses for pain and suffering and mental anguish."²⁰⁴ Observed one local attorney, "You would think that a young man, at the start of his career, crippled by an injury, would want to make sure that others that may have the misfortune to follow in his footsteps would ensure that those people had the opportunity to be compensated for their injuries in the same way he was."²⁰⁵ And his lawsuits continued. According to a 2017 analysis by the *Texas Tribune*, he filed a whopping 31 lawsuits against the Obama Administration.²⁰⁶

U.S. Energy Secretary Rick Perry seemed to have the same problem when he was Governor of Texas. Perry has long been a champion of "tort reform" – limiting civil lawsuits, especially against business.²⁰⁷ But in 2011, Perry sued the State of Virginia's Board of Elections over its ballot access rules. He brought this suit even though he failed to submit the requisite total number of signatures; he lost.²⁰⁸ He was represented by Joe Nixon, a former Texas legislator who was known as the architect of "tort reform" laws in the state.²⁰⁹ Upon losing his case, Nixon said, "I commend Governor Perry for his courage and tenacity in pursuing the case and seeking to protect the rights of Virginia voters."²¹⁰ Guess he didn't feel the same when it came to safeguarding the rights of Texas voters.

19. U.S. Senator Ted Cruz (R-TX)

Sorry to keep picking on Texas, but... As a policy advisor to George W. Bush's 2000 campaign, Ted Cruz helped write the candidate's position paper, which, among other things, advocated for severe restrictions on tort lawsuits.²¹¹ While Texas Solicitor General from 2003 until 2008,

he served as a staunch defender of the state's brutal "tort reform" law that severely constrained the ability of consumers to sue medical professionals and nursing homes and to collect punitive damages in other cases.²¹² Cruz touted this experience when he ran for U.S. Senate in 2012.²¹³ And since becoming a Senator, he has pushed for Congress to foist Texas-like "tort reforms" on the nation, arguing for state caps on punitive damages in medical malpractice lawsuits.²¹⁴ As explained by *Mother Jones*, "On the campaign trail – when he is trying to score political points and draw the support of the business community – Cruz has embraced tort reform that disempowers consumers and protects negligent companies from such penalties."²¹⁵

However, it turns out that Cruz's stance is entirely dependent on what he has to gain. "In the courtroom – when he was being paid – Cruz was an articulate and forceful champion of supersize punitive awards, insisting such lawsuits and punishments were needed to protect consumers from reckless corporations that put profits ahead of people."²¹⁶ More specifically,

[A]s a lawyer in private practice, Cruz – at least twice, in 2010 and 2011 – worked on cases in New Mexico to secure \$50 million-plus jury awards in tort cases prompted by corporate malfeasance. These are precisely the kind of jury awards that the tort reform Cruz has promoted would abolish. That is, Cruz the attorney, who sometimes billed clients \$695 an hour, made money defending jury awards that Cruz the politician wanted to eliminate – and he did so at the same time he was running for Senate as a pro-tort-reform candidate.²¹⁷

In fact, "on November 15, 2011, Cruz took time off from his Senate campaign to appear in an Albuquerque courtroom to argue" that a \$54 million jury award (\$4.95 million in compensatory damages and a \$49.2 million in punitive damages) was justified against a health services firm and its subsidiary after "a profoundly mentally and developmentally disabled man – he could not speak or effectively use his limbs – had been raped, presumably by an employee at the Roswell group home where he lived."²¹⁸ Apparently Cruz told the appeals court that it "was obliged 'to respect the jury's finding,' regarding the substantial punitive damages. He put it simply: 'The purpose of punitive damages is to punish and to deter...The jury rightly concluded the appropriate amount to punish and deter was \$48 million."²¹⁹

20. Retiring U.S. Representative Darrell Issa (R-CA)

The nine-term California congressman²²⁰ has long been a vocal proponent of restricting injured victims' access to the civil justice system. For example, in February 2010, Issa issued a report

that pushed for non-economic damages caps in medical malpractice cases.²²¹ That same month, he issued a press release²²² filled with med mal "tort reform" rhetoric and penned a *Politico* piece claiming that "tort reform" was needed in health care cases to "close the loopholes that allow frivolous lawsuits to clog up the system" and curtail "outrageous jury awards."²²³

Issa's congressional record also reflects his anti-civil justice bias. Year after year, Issa has said yes to legislation that strips Americans of their ability to pursue class action lawsuits or to seek and obtain fair compensation for asbestos exposure, medical negligence and a host of other harms.²²⁴ The current 2017-18 session has been no different, with Issa voting for H.R. 720, which would chill the filing of meritorious cases; H.R. 985, which would destroy class actions and harm asbestos victims; H.R. 1215, which would strip away the rights of harmed patients, abused and neglected nursing home residents and victims of some unsafe drugs; and a host of other other anti-civil justice bills.²²⁵

Yet when Issa didn't like a rival's political ads, he went straight to court. In November 2016, the incumbent filed a \$10 million libel suit against challenger Doug Applegate, his campaign manager and the campaign itself, alleging that Applegate's campaign commercials had damaged his reputation. More specifically, as reported by the *San Diego Tribune*,

Issa's lawsuit takes issue with two commercials that Applegate's campaign aired on broadcast and cable television this fall in Orange and San Diego counties. One of the advertisements cited an August 2011 article from The New York Times headlined "A Businessman in Congress Helps his District and Himself" that Issa has long contested. The other Applegate commercial was about statements Issa made about a bill that would benefit victims of the 9/11 terrorists attacks.²²⁶

The court: 1) dismissed Issa's complaint; 2) ruled that the congressman had violated a California statute that bars lawsuits filed with the intent to intimidate free speech; and 3) ordered Issa to pay his opponents' legal expenses totaling \$45,000.²²⁷ In February 2018, Issa filed an appellate brief seeking to reinstate his complaint; the case is pending.²²⁸

21. Former Alaska Governor Sarah Palin

Like Hypocrite #22, Ted Frank – who vetted Palin before she was put on the 2008 Republican ticket²²⁹ – Palin's positions can be somewhat confusing. For example, when the U.S. Supreme Court slashed the Exxon Valdez oil spill jury verdict for the 30,000 fishermen, businesses and

others who were hurt, then-Governor Palin strongly denounced the 2008 decision. She said she didn't think it was "right" or "fair" and was "extremely sorry for this decision," explaining "that the Supreme Court has decided to ratchet down the punitive damages to the degree that they have" was a "huge disappointment."²³⁰ But the next year, Palin did a complete 180. Not only did she praise the ruling in her book *Going Rogue* but she also called for severe limits on compensation to injured patients.²³¹ In addition, she said the filing of so-called "frivolous lawsuits" against her was a driving force behind her decision to resign on July 3, 2009. "It doesn't cost the critics anything to file frivolous lawsuits," Palin told *CNN*.²³² Then in 2010, Palin wrote the forward to a Pacific Research Institute study attacking state tort systems that protect victims' rights to hold corporate wrongdoers accountable.²³³

Yet Palin has an extensive record of suing or threatening suit. For example, in 2009, after a blogger wrote about Palin being under federal investigation, her attorney sent a letter "to provide notice" to "those who republish the defamation, such as *Huffington Post, MSNBC, The New York Times* and *The Washington Post*, that the Palins will not allow them to propagate defamatory material without answering to this in a court of law."²³⁴ More recently, in 2017, Palin filed a defamation lawsuit against the *New York Times* after the paper published an editorial linking Palin's political action committee to a 2011 shooting that wounded U.S. Rep. Gabrielle Giffords, a connection the paper corrected two days later. A federal judge found no evidence of malice and dismissed the case with prejudice.²³⁵ As of publication, the case was pending.

22. Ted Frank, Director, Center for Class Action Fairness

To some of us, Ted Frank has always appeared to be a little inconsistent. For example, he invited the Center for Justice & Democracy's Executive Director and this report's co-author, Joanne Doroshow, to join him on an American Enterprise Institute panel to discuss post-Hurricane Katrina insurance problems (which aired on *C-SPAN*),²³⁶ after which he wrote, "We were fortunate to be able to have someone of your stature join us ... You performed admirably in this role and our panel was unquestionably stronger for your participation." Then he accused CJ&D of producing "a long line of faulty studies," "playing fast and loose with the data" and "misrepresent[ing] the state of the world" when it came to medical malpractice insurance.²³⁷ He also called CJ&D's blog "brainless."²³⁸ It's somewhat hard to keep up.

These later statements seem more consistent with his recent occupational choice – attacking those who bring lawsuits. He suggests there's a need for his work in this area because the United States generally rejects the British "loser pays" rule,²³⁹ a type of "tort reform" that chills

the filing of cases by requiring Americans to pay the hourly attorney fees and court costs of a big corporation that they lose to.²⁴⁰ As Congress was exploring legislation to cap compensation to victims of medical malpractice in 2006, he criticized pushback from consumer advocates who correctly showed why malpractice insurance rates had stabilized²⁴¹ – a soft market which continues to this day.²⁴² He has been a particularly vocal opponent of litigation to invalidate "contracts" between companies and consumers, no matter how one-sided. We all suffer when someone brings such a lawsuit, he argues, because "a deal is a deal."²⁴³

These days – except when vetting other "tort reform" hypocrites for presidential tickets (like our #21 pick, Sarah Palin)²⁴⁴ – Ted Frank is a professional class action settlement objector.²⁴⁵ As *Bloomberg* explains, Frank "shows up at court to challenge settlements, often with the goal of scuttling them, to the dismay of both plaintiffs' attorneys and companies that just want to put the suit behind them."²⁴⁶ While he rejects the word "professional," objecting to class action settlements appears to be what he does for a living.²⁴⁷ But he says he is unlike other "professional settlement objectors who target large cases in hopes of extracting a percentage of the attorney fees as a reward," as he told the *ABA Journal* in 2010.²⁴⁸ He also told *American Lawyer*, "Some law firms simply lie about me in their pleadings. They claim I'm trying to extort a piece of the settlement for myself. I've never agreed to a quid pro quo settlement."²⁴⁹ In 2013 testimony before Congress, he railed against such "self-dealing" by class attorneys.²⁵⁰ And he requires "his clients to pledge in their retainer agreements that they're not looking for financial payoffs in bringing objections to proposed class settlements."²⁵¹

So imagine everyone's surprise upon learning that, in 2013, Frank was receiving contingency fees – a "piece of the settlement for himself" – as a result of a consulting arrangement he had with another class action objector – Christopher Bandas of the Bandas Law Firm.²⁵² His first arrangement with Bandas allowed him to receive "a piece of Bandas' share of proceeds from resolved cases in which Frank was a consultant."²⁵³ Later, the contract changed so he received "a minimum monthly payment for his work on Bandas' behalf."²⁵⁴ Frank apparently received fees totaling about \$250,000 until the arrangement ended in 2015. This all spilled out in a 2015 Frank declaration, made in a 7th Circuit "appeal of a fee award in a \$75.5 million settlement" involving Capital One's violation of the Telephone Consumer Protection Act (TCPA) for debt collection robocalls.²⁵⁵

Speaking of robocalls, in 2017 Frank *filed his own class action lawsuit*²⁵⁶ – designating himself lead plaintiff – alleging robocall violations of the TCPA, a "law invoked in several suits where Frank has appeared as objector's counsel. Surely, he sees a bit of irony in all this?" commented the *National Law Journal*. "Not really, Frank said," insisting that "his case is different from those he's objected to...."²⁵⁷ Yes, aren't they all? The case is pending.

23. Koch Industries/Georgia-Pacific

There are a number of reasons why Koch Industries, the privately-held multinational conglomerate, toxic polluter and repeated lawbreaker,²⁵⁸ might be interested in limiting its liability for killing or injuring its victims. For example, since 2005, Koch has owned the paper mill giant Georgia-Pacific, a company that has been sued by hundreds of thousands of asbestos victims for poisoning them with the company's asbestos-containing joint compound.²⁵⁹ Another reason for liability concern might be because its pipelines are vulnerable to explosions that kill people.²⁶⁰

Mark Holden, Senior Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary for Koch Industries, is a longtime Board member of the U.S. Chamber of Commerce's Institute for Legal Reform, which lobbies for a host of bills to limit or destroy the legal rights of victims.²⁶¹ Koch Industries has also been a key player on ALEC's Civil Justice Task Force,²⁶² which has written and is circulating model bills to, among other things, limit the legal rights of asbestos victims as well as legislation to "largely absolve landowners from a responsibility to maintain safe premises, and tends to benefit large landowners like railroads, utility companies, and big agriculture."²⁶³

While working to limit the rights of dying asbestos victims, Georgia-Pacific likes to file lawsuits, especially when it comes to protecting profits for its important paper towel and toilet paper products. In one case filed in April 2015, the company sued another paper company (for punitive and other damages) for selling "Soft Touch" toilet paper, which it said was too similar to its "Angel Soft" toilet paper.²⁶⁴ The case terminated in January 2016.²⁶⁵ In a March 2015 decision, a North Carolina federal court "wiped out much of Georgia-Pacific's damages" against another company for "selling paper towels that specifically fit inside a Georgia-Pacific dispenser" used in public bathrooms. The company had sued – and lost – in other federal courts over the same issue, with other courts saying "customers weren't likely to be confused about the brand of paper towel coming out of the dispenser."²⁶⁶

Georgia-Pacific even files negligence suits. For example, the company sued Johnson's Fence for negligence, namely "causing damage" to Georgia-Pacific "while excavating for fence construction and identification and marking of underground electric cable."²⁶⁷ The case closed in October 2015.²⁶⁸ And let's not forget other Koch-owned companies. In November 2017, for example, two Koch-owned companies filed suit against the Venezuelan government "to enforce international arbitration awards totaling nearly \$400 million related to the South American government's nationalization of two fertilizer plants in 2010."²⁶⁹ The case is pending.

24. ExxonMobil/Rex Tillerson

Exxon fought Alaska residents and fishermen hurt by ecological disaster caused by its 1989 Exxon Valdez oil spill, even though in 1994 an Alaska jury awarded the victims \$287 million in actual damages and \$5 billion in punitive damages. Exxon kept appealing all the way to the U.S. Supreme Court, where it finally got a judgment that slashed the verdict so Exxon's 30,000 plus victims could only receive one-tenth of the jury's award.²⁷⁰ Given that sort of hostility towards its victims, it may be no surprise that in the past ExxonMobil has been represented on the Board of the U.S. Chamber of Commerce's Institute for Legal Reform.²⁷¹ The company was also involved with ALEC's Civil Justice Task Force in at least 2010 and 2011, according to publicly released documents,²⁷² and registered for the 2017 ALEC conference (although not specifically listing civil justice as its interest area).²⁷³ With the exception of ALEC's last meeting, Exxon was run by Rex Tillerson, perhaps more well-known as Trump's Secretary of State until he was unceremoniously fired in March 2018.²⁷⁴

In 2014, the *Wall Street Journal* broke a story about Tillerson, who lived in a "wealthy community outside Dallas."²⁷⁵ He had filed a lawsuit along with his neighbors to block construction of a nearby water tower, "saying it is illegal and would create 'a noise nuisance and traffic hazards,' in part because it would provide water for use in hydraulic fracturing."²⁷⁶ Fracking, noted the paper, "is a core part of Exxon's business."²⁷⁷ Except in Tillerson's backyard it seems. (Interestingly, Exxon was one of the companies featured in CJ&D's original 2000 study, *Not in My Backyard: The Hypocrites of "Tort Reform."*²⁷⁸)

ExxonMobil has continued to be an active litigator. In October 2014, Mobil subsidiaries went to federal court seeking to enforce a \$1.6 billion-plus international arbitral judgment over Venezuela's 2007 seizure of company assets in oil development ventures. Nearly three years later, the 2nd Circuit ruled against ExxonMobil.²⁷⁹ And in 2016, after the Attorneys General of New York and Massachusetts filed one of several cases "centered on whether Exxon has for decades lied about climate change, including its impact on energy prices and the environment and its ability to develop reserves," Exxon astonishingly filed suit against the state AGs.²⁸⁰ It alleged, among other things, that the corporation's rights to free speech were being violated. The case was thrown out.²⁸¹

25. Amway/parent Alticor

While many major corporations that were once active in ALEC's Civil Justice Task Force have resigned from ALEC, not so for Michigan-based Amway, founded by the billionaire father-inlaw of U.S. Education Secretary Betsy DeVos. In July 2017, Amway lobbyist Bryan Harrison was one of a handful of ALEC "private sector" members who registered to attend this Task Force's meeting, according to publicly available documents.²⁸² And lobbying for state anti-civil justice bills is not Amway's only activity. According to 2017 and 2018 federal reports, Amway/Alticor has lobbied for multiple federal anti-civil justice bills, including H.R. 985, which would obliterate class actions in America, and H.R. 720, which would chill the filing of meritorious civil rights, employment, small business and consumer cases.²⁸³

But like many companies who advocate stripping away the rights of those they may have harmed, the company understands the value of lawsuits when it comes to its own self-interest. Recently, for example, the firm and its parent company sued the world's three largest record companies, claiming that they conspired "to flout a 1998 agreement under which UMG, Sony and Warner promised to provide notice of allegations of copyright infringement by Amway distributors so that Amway could investigate and stop them."²⁸⁴ In January 2017, the parties reached a confidential settlement.²⁸⁵ Then, six months later, Amway sued two of its insurance companies for \$75 million plus additional damages for not covering a claim.²⁸⁶ The case is pending.²⁸⁷

26. Bayer Corporation

Pharmaceutical giant Bayer has been one of the most active members of ALEC's Civil Justice Task Force. That includes membership in 2010 (when the company was a Conference breakfast sponsor), 2011 and 2017.²⁸⁸ Bayer representatives who have been on the Task Force include Joseph Cleary, Director, State Government Affairs Bayer HealthCare, and Richard Winget, former Bayer executive and recipient of ALEC's 2003 Private Member of the Year Award²⁸⁹ (who later went on to represent the U.S. Chamber Institute for Legal Reform²⁹⁰).

Many ALEC model bills that were written and approved by the Civil Justice Task Force would protect drug companies and strip away the rights of patients harmed by unsafe drugs. For example, one model bill is called "the Drug Liability Act,"²⁹¹ which would "bar lawsuits by families of Americans killed or injured by FDA-approved drugs, even if the drugs are recalled,

thus preventing drug companies from being held accountable for the injuries or deaths they cause."²⁹²

But when it comes to important matters like weed-killer, Bayer does not hesitate to sue a competitor in order to protect its bottom line. In May 2017, for example, the Federal Circuit affirmed a \$455 million judgment for Bayer, upholding an arbitration panel's finding that Dow AgroSciences had infringed on Bayer's weed control patents.²⁹³ The U.S. Supreme Court denied review.²⁹⁴ In fact, Bayer seems to like having unfettered use of the courts for all kinds of patent infringement cases. It also recently sued Watson Laboratories for patent infringement related to Bayer's erectile dysfunction drug Staxyn.²⁹⁵ In November 2017, after five and a half years of litigation, an appeals court ruled against Bayer, finding that its patent was invalid as obvious.²⁹⁶ Yet patent infringement isn't the only kind of commercial problem leading Bayer to the courthouse. In December 2017, Bayer ended its lawsuit²⁹⁷ after it said RJ Health gave it "misleading and fraudulent information ... regarding the reimbursement price for Mirena®, a hormonal intrauterine device ('IUD') used for birth control."²⁹⁸

27. Burlington Northern Santa Fe Railroad (BNSF)

There is little question that railroad workers are at significant risk of dying from asbestos disease.²⁹⁹ And like other companies whose products and practices have caused asbestos-related injuries and deaths (such as Hypocrite #23, Koch/Georgia-Pacific), BNSF has been an active member and financial supporter of ALEC³⁰⁰ and a member of ALEC's Civil Justice Task Force in at least 2010, 2011 and 2017.³⁰¹ Among other things, ALEC's Civil Justice Task Force has written and is circulating model bills to limit the legal rights of asbestos victims, as well as legislation to "largely absolve landowners from a responsibility to maintain safe premises, and tends to benefit large landowners like railroads, utility companies, and big agriculture."³⁰²

Meanwhile, BNSF hates compensating rail workers so much that it's suing its own lawyer for losing a case won by an injured worker.³⁰³ BNSF also breaks the law and then sues over it. In November 2017, the railroad company "hit the labor chiefs of California and Washington with a pair of lawsuits in federal court" to invalidate state labor laws regulating employee hours of service, rest breaks and wage statements. As reported by *Law360*, BNSF "concedes in the suits that the company is currently not complying with the California and Washington labor statutes and that it has no plans to comply."³⁰⁴ And in April 2018, BNSF "filed a lawsuit claiming the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission improperly authorized more than 50 workers and job applicants to sue the company for disability discrimination."³⁰⁵ The case is pending.

28. Pfizer

Pfizer and its subsidiaries have manufactured and been sued over harm caused by a long list of notorious drugs and medical devices.³⁰⁶ It was one of the many drug companies whose liability exposure for injuring or killing patients was severely weakened in the 1990s, when Michigan enacted an unprecedented law that prevents its residents from gaining access to the civil justice system if they are harmed by certain dangerous drugs. In December 2006, responding to an effort to repeal the law, the *Detroit News* ran an editorial praising Pfizer for providing so many good jobs in the state – the supposed trade-off for stripping victims of their rights.³⁰⁷ Less than a month later, Pfizer announced it was closing its Kalamazoo and Ann Arbor research and development facilities – a move that affected thousands of jobs in Michigan.³⁰⁸ A year later, the Ann Arbor site was nearly abandoned and hundreds of Pfizer employees and their families had moved out of the state.³⁰⁹

Being a bad corporate citizen does not a hypocrite make. But other things do. Pfizer was one of the companies that helped support some of first "tort reform" organizations in the country.³¹⁰ It also has long been involved with ALEC's Civil Justice Task Force, since at least the years 2010 and 2011.³¹¹ It registered for the 2017 ALEC conference as well (although it did not specifically list interest in the Civil Justice Task Force).³¹²

Yet Pfizer files many lawsuits and was even featured in CJ&D's original 2000 study, *Not in My Backyard: The Hypocrites of "Tort Reform."*³¹³ Recently, in September 2017, the pharmaceutical giant filed a lawsuit against Johnson & Johnson and its subsidiary over alleged anticompetitive practices to maintain its drug monopoly for treatment of rheumatoid arthritis, Crohn's disease and other conditions.³¹⁴ As reported by *Reuters*, "Pfizer said in the suit that J&J is offering discounts on its Remicade treatment in exchange for essentially excluding Pfizer's drug from insurance coverage, keeping it out of the hands of patients."³¹⁵ The case is pending. The following month, Pfizer lost its lawsuit against the Texas Health and Human Services Commission, which had disclosed the company's drug pricing and rebate information to two state legislators in alleged violation of state and federal law.³¹⁶ The court denied Pfizer's bid for an injunction, finding that "Pfizer's state law claims against the commission are barred by the Eleventh Amendment, which prohibits a federal court from awarding legal or equitable relief against the state." And in February 2018, Pfizer filed a lawsuit "seeking \$30 million in coverage from a trio of insurers for the settlement of a \$400 million shareholder suit over offlabel marketing.³¹⁷ The case is pending.³¹⁸

29. Teva Pharmaceutical

Teva seems to understand the importance of using the civil justice system as a tool to remedy fraud – but apparently only when Teva's the swindle-ee. In 2017 and 2018, Teva lobbied³¹⁹ for passage of H.R. 985, which would eviscerate class actions for, among others, cheated and defrauded consumers.³²⁰ Yet in July 2016, Teva reached a confidential settlement with Forest Laboratories in a long-running patent infringement lawsuit over an Alzheimer drug.³²¹ Two months later, Teva sued two brothers who had sold their Mexican drug company to Teva. According to the suit, the men had "affirmatively lied and concealed extraordinary legal violations to obtain \$2.3 billion through the sale of a Mexican pharmaceutical manufacturer and its intellectual property."³²² In August 2017, the court tossed most of the fraud suit.³²³ The case is pending. And just this April 2018, Teva reached an undisclosed settlement with a former top executive, her boyfriend – the president and CEO of rival generic drug company – and the company itself after she allegedly shared Teva trade secrets and confidential business information with him.³²⁴

30. Procter & Gamble (P&G)

This manufacturer had lobbyists push H.R. 985 in 2017 and 2018, which would destroy class actions and strip dying asbestos victims of their legal rights.³²⁵ However, P&G seems to have a clearer understanding of and appreciation for the civil justice system when it comes to teeth whiteners. For example, P&G has a history of suing private label manufacturers for patent infringement of its Crest Whitestrips, having prevailed and settled one case in 2014 and prevailing again in another case in 2016.³²⁶ Then in March 2017, P&G "filed a federal lawsuit claiming that its patented technology for tooth-whitening strips had been infringed upon by a competitor, Ranir."³²⁷ The case settled in March 2018.³²⁸

As for other products, in August 2017, the company sued for alleged willful infringement of its "Skin Imaging and Analysis Systems and Methods" patent.³²⁹ The case is pending.³³⁰ And in December 2016, P&G voluntarily dismissed its lawsuit against Apollo Health & Beauty Care Corporation, which it had sued because Apollo's hair care products apparently looked too similar to Head & Shoulders.³³¹

About the Center for Justice & Democracy at New York Law School

Now in its 20th year, the Center for Justice & Democracy is the only national consumer organization in the country exclusively dedicated to protecting our civil justice system. CJ&D works full-time to make sure all Americans get a fair shake in court, even against the country's most powerful special interests. CJ&D exposes unscrupulous attacks by special interests on judges, juries, injured consumers and the attorneys who represent them, and raises public awareness of the value of our civil justice system and the dangerous campaign behind the "tort reform" movement.

Notes

³ See American Legislative Exchange Council, "Civil Justice: Task Force Description," <u>https://www.alec.org/task-force/civil-justice/</u> and "ALEC Model Policies," <u>http://www.statelawsuitreform.com/model-policies/</u> (viewed April 19, 2018).

⁴ Forced arbitration clauses keep disputes in secretive, rigged proceedings that the company controls and allow information to be hidden from the public. There is no right to appeal. For more, *see* "Forced Arbitration Hypocrites: Uber (7), Airbnb (8), Amazon (9) Verizon (10) Independent Community Bankers of America (ICBA) (11) and Debt Collectors (12)."

https://twitter.com/realDonaldTrump/status/991994433750142976. See also, Christian Berthelsen, "Trump Campaign Uses Stormy Daniels Tactic to Keep Harassment Case Quiet," *Bloomberg*, June 4, 2018.

¹ See Center for Justice & Democracy, Not in My Backyard: The Hypocrites of "Tort Reform" (December 2000), https://centerjd.org/content/white-paper-not-my-backyard-hypocrites-%E2%80%9Ctort-reform%E2%80%9D. See also, Center for Justice & Democracy, Hypocrites of 'Tort Reform': Doctors and Organized Medicine (October 2003), https://centerjd.org/content/hypocrites-tort-reform-doctors-and-organized-medicine; Center for Justice & Democracy, Not in My Backyard II: The High-Tech Hypocrites of "Tort Reform" (April 2002), https://centerjd.org/content/white-paper-not-my-backyard-ii-high-tech-hypocrites-%E2%80%9Ctortreform%E2%80%9D

² See, e.g., St. Louis Public Radio legal roundtable discussion of ATRA's Judicial Hellholes, January 24, 2017, https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=ohzfZZx-HYY; Center for Justice & Democracy, "Poking Holes in Judicial Hellholes, ATRA's Annual Fake News Story," December 16, 2016, https://centerjd.org/content/poking-holesjudicial-hellholes-atra%E2%80%99s-annual-fake-news-story; Eisenberg, Theodore, "U.S. Chamber of Commerce Liability Survey: Inaccurate, Unfair, and Bad for Business" (2009). Cornell Law Faculty Publications. Paper 373. http://scholarship.law.cornell.edu/facpub/373

⁵ https://twitter.com/realdonaldtrump/status/991992302267785216 and

⁶ Julie Pace and Chad Day, "For many Trump employees, keeping quiet is legally required," *Associated Press*, June 21, 2016, <u>https://apnews.com/14542a6687a3452d8c9918e2fobf16e6/many-trump-employees-keeping-quiet-legally-required</u>

⁷ Ibid.

⁸ David Lazarus, "On people's right to sue, Trump's hypocrisy matches that of businesses," *Los Angeles Times*, August 4, 2017, <u>http://www.latimes.com/business/lazarus/la-fi-lazarus-lewandowski-cfpb-arbitration-20170804-</u> <u>story.html</u>

⁹ See Center for Justice & Democracy, *Trump's Civil Justice Scorecard* (March 2018), <u>https://centerjd.org/content/trumps-civil-justice-scorecard</u>

¹⁰ See "Donald Trump: Three decades – 4,095 lawsuits," USA Today, July 7, 2016,

<u>https://www.usatoday.com/pages/interactives/trump-lawsuits/</u>; Nick Penzenstadler and Susan Page, "Exclusive: Trump's 3,500 lawsuits unprecedented for a presidential nominee," *USA Today*, June 1, 2016,

https://www.usatoday.com/story/news/politics/elections/2016/06/01/donald-trump-lawsuits-legalbattles/84995854/

¹¹ Trump v. Timothy L. O'Brien, Time Warner Book Group and Warner Books Inc., 2009 Jury Verdicts LEXIS 421807, July 15, 2009. See also, Ian Tuttle, "The Litigious – and Bullying – Mr. Trump," National Review, February 19, 2016, <u>https://www.nationalreview.com/2016/02/donald-trump-tim-obrien-courtroom-story/</u>; Eriq Gardner, "Donald

Trump Loses Libel Lawsuit Over Being Called A 'Millionaire,'" *Hollywood Reporter*, September 8, 2011, <u>https://www.hollywoodreporter.com/thr-esq/donald-trump-loses-libel-lawsuit-232923;</u> "Donald Trump sues writer for calling him millionaire not billionaire," *Telegraph*, May 19, 2009,

https://www.telegraph.co.uk/news/worldnews/northamerica/usa/5347989/Donald-Trump-sues-writer-for-callinghim-millionaire-not-billionaire.html

¹² *Trump v. O'Brien*, 422 N.J. Super. 540 (N.J. App. Div.), September 7, 2011.

¹³ "Donald Trump: Three decades – 4,095 lawsuits," USA Today, July 7, 2016, <u>https://www.usatoday.com/pages/interactives/trump-lawsuits/</u>

¹⁴ "Trump Will See You in Court," *Bloomberg*, April 25, 2016, <u>https://www.bloomberg.com/graphics/2016-trump-lawsuits/</u>

15 Ibid.

16 Ibid.

¹⁷ Dana Milbank, "Trump calls the Russia lawsuit 'funny.' He once sued to prove he wasn't an orangutan." *Washington Post*, April 23, 2018, <u>https://www.washingtonpost.com/opinions/trump-calls-the-russia-lawsuit-funny-he-once-sued-to-prove-he-wasnt-an-orangutan/2018/04/23/3e1b09b8-473b-11e8-827e-190efaf1fee_story.html</u>

¹⁸ Katherine Sullivan, "Trump's Company Is Suing Towns Across the Country to Get Breaks on Taxes – 'Trump, Inc.' Podcast," *ProPublica*, April 11, 2018, <u>https://www.propublica.org/article/trump-inc-podcast-trump-organization-suing-towns-property-tax-breaks</u>

¹⁹ Charles V. Bagli, "Trump Place Does Not Have to Be a Forever Name, Judge Says," *New York Times*, May 3, 2018, <u>https://www.nytimes.com/2018/05/03/nyregion/trump-place-name-nyc.html</u>

²⁰ See, e.g., Center for Responsive Politics, "U.S. Chamber Institute for Legal Reform," https://www.opensecrets.org/lobby/firmsum.php?id=Doooo22405&year=2018 (\$7.54 million as of May 1, 2018), https://www.opensecrets.org/lobby/firmsum.php?id=Doooo22405&year=2017 (\$22.7 million in 2017), https://www.opensecrets.org/lobby/firmsum.php?id=Doooo22405&year=2016 (\$27.71 million in 2016), https://www.opensecrets.org/lobby/firmsum.php?id=Doooo22405&year=2015 (\$21.53 million in 2015), https://www.opensecrets.org/lobby/firmsum.php?id=Doooo22405&year=2014 (\$33.16 million in 2014), https://www.opensecrets.org/lobby/firmsum.php?id=Dooo022405&year=2014 (\$33.16 million in 2014), https://www.opensecrets.org/lobby/firmsum.php?id=Dooo022405&year=2012 (\$20.86 million in 2013), https://www.opensecrets.org/lobby/firmsum.php?id=Doooo22405&year=2011 (\$21.58 million in 2011) and https://www.opensecrets.org/lobby/firmsum.php?id=Dooo022405&year=2010 (\$31.3 million in 2010).

²¹ Center for Responsive Politics, "U.S. Chamber Institute for Legal Reform," <u>https://www.opensecrets.org/lobby/firmsum.php?id=Doooo22405&year=2017</u> (\$22.7 million in 2017).

²² Center for Responsive Politics, "Top Spenders, 2017"

https://www.opensecrets.org/lobby/top.php?showYear=2017&indexType=s

²³ U.S. Chamber of Commerce, "The State of American Business 2014, Remarks by Thomas J. Donohue President and CEO, U.S. Chamber of Commerce," January 8, 2014, <u>https://www.uschamber.com/speech/state-american-business-2014-remarks-thomas-j-donohue-president-and-ceo-us-chamber-commerce</u>

²⁴ Center for Responsive Politics, "U.S. Chamber Institute for Legal Reform," Firm Profile: Bills 2017, <u>https://www.opensecrets.org/lobby/firmbills.php?id=Dooo022405&year=2017</u> For an explanation and critique of these bills, see Center for Justice & Democracy, "Letters Opposing Six U.S. House Anti-Civil Justice Bills," <u>https://centerjd.org/content/letters-opposing-six-us-house-anti-civil-justice-bills</u>

²⁵ Center for Media and Democracy, "Justice Denied: 71 ALEC Bills in 2013 Make It Harder to Hold Corporations Accountable for Causing Injury or Death," July 10, 2013, <u>https://www.prwatch.org/news/2013/07/12172/justice-denied-71-alec-bills-2013-make-it-harder-hold-corporations-accountable-ca</u>. *See also*, "ALEC Model Policies," <u>http://www.statelawsuitreform.com/model-policies/</u> (viewed April 19, 2018).

²⁶ See American Legislative Exchange Council, "Civil Justice: Task Force Description," <u>https://www.alec.org/task-force/civil-justice/</u> and "ALEC Model Policies," <u>http://www.statelawsuitreform.com/model-policies/</u> (viewed April 19, 2018).

²⁷ In deciding ALEC's agenda, corporate lobbyists and state lawmakers meet behind closed doors and vote. Members of the press are not permitted to observe. In 2015, one Georgia reporter tried to attend ALEC's Spring meeting at a resort hotel in Savannah, Georgia. Not only was he kicked out of the meeting, but also – to make sure he stayed out – ALEC called over a number of off-duty police officers who escorted him out of the hotel even though he was a paying guest. *See, e.g.,* Center for Media and Democracy, "So a Lobbyist and an ALEC Legislator Walk into a Bar...Caught on Tape by NBC," May 21, 2015, <u>https://www.prwatch.org/news/2015/05/12838/aleclobbyist-funding-caught-on-tape</u>

²⁸ See member directories attached to meeting agendas for Civil Justice Task Force meetings (on file with CJ&D); Jamie Corey, "Revealed: Names of Alec Lobbyist and Legislator Members," *Documented*, March 8, 2018, <u>http://documentedinvestigations.org/2018/03/08/revealed-names-alec-lobbyist-legislator-members/</u>

²⁹ See member directories attached to meeting agendas for Civil Justice Task Force meetings (on file with CJ&D). ³⁰ Jamie Corey, "Revealed: Names of Alec Lobbyist and Legislator Members," *Documented*, March 8, 2018, <u>http://documentedinvestigations.org/2018/03/08/revealed-names-alec-lobbyist-legislator-members/</u>

³¹ Center for Media and Democracy, "Justice Denied: 71 ALEC Bills in 2013 Make It Harder to Hold Corporations Accountable for Causing Injury or Death," July 10, 2013, <u>https://www.prwatch.org/news/2013/07/12172/justice-denied-71-alec-bills-2013-make-it-harder-hold-corporations-accountable-ca</u>

³² Public Citizen, *The Chamber of Litigation*, October 26, 2016, <u>https://www.chamberofcommercewatch.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/10/Chamber-litigation-report-part-1.pdf</u>

³³ U.S. Chamber of Litigation Center, "Recent Activity," <u>http://www.chamberlitigation.com/recent-activity</u> (viewed May 2, 2018).

³⁴ Sean Higgins, "Chamber of Commerce: White House acted on net neutrality for political reasons," *Washington Examiner*, March 20, 2015, <u>https://www.washingtonexaminer.com/chamber-of-commerce-white-house-acted-on-net-neutrality-for-political-reasons</u>

³⁵ Public Citizen, *The Chamber of Litigation*, October 26, 2016, <u>https://www.chamberofcommercewatch.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/10/Chamber-litigation-report-part-1.pdf</u>

³⁶ See, e.g., Adam Cohen, "Why Is Congress Protecting the Gun Industry?" *Time Magazine*, December 24, 2012, <u>http://ideas.time.com/2012/12/24/why-is-congress-protecting-the-gun-industry/</u>; Sheryl Gay Stolberg, "Congress Passes New Legal Shield for Gun Industry," *New York Times*, October 21, 2005,

https://www.nytimes.com/2005/10/21/politics/congress-passes-new-legal-shield-for-gun-industry.html; NRA Lobbying Report dated January 10, 2006 (citing \$18,000 in lobbying expenditures from July 1-December 31, 2005 on S. 397/H.R. 800 The Protection of Lawful Commerce in Arms Act),

https://soprweb.senate.gov/index.cfm?event=getFilingDetails&filingID=EEE76EAD-2BF7-423F-B56D-1F69565824B8&filingTypeID=12

³⁷ Rick Rojas and Kristin Hussey, "Appeal Offers Hope for Newtown Families in Suit Against Gun Companies," *New York Times*, November 12, 2017, <u>https://www.nytimes.com/2017/11/12/nyregion/appeal-offers-hope-for-newtown-families-in-suit-against-gun-companies.html</u>

³⁸ National Conference of State Legislatures, "Self Defense and 'Stand Your Ground," March 9, 2017, <u>http://www.ncsl.org/research/civil-and-criminal-justice/self-defense-and-stand-your-ground.aspx</u>. *See also*, Center for Media and Democracy, "Time to Repeal ALEC/NRA Stand Your Ground Laws," July 15, 2013, <u>http://www.prwatch.org/news/2013/07/12180/time-repeal-alecnra-stand-your-ground-laws</u>; Center for Media and Democracy, "Blood For Money: NRA, ALEC, & 'Shoot First Laws," (2013),

https://www.sourcewatch.org/images/1/1b/BloodforMoneyFINAL.pdf; Ann O'Neill, "NRA's Marion Hammer stands her ground," CNN, April 15, 2012, https://www.cnn.com/2012/04/15/us/marion-hammer-profile/

³⁹ Kate Kull, "Officials: 'Stand your ground' will change little in criminal system," *Wyoming Tribune Eagle*, March 18, 2018, <u>https://www.wyomingnews.com/news/local_news/officials-stand-your-ground-will-change-little-in-</u> criminal-system/article_d8d22efc-2a6f-11e8-83c2-1fa5699c11c1.html

⁴⁰ Center for Media and Democracy, "ALEC Ratified the NRA-Conceived Law That May Protect Trayvon Martin's Killer," March 21, 2012, <u>https://www.prwatch.org/news/2012/03/11366/alec-ratified-nra-conceived-law-may-protect-trayvon-martins-killer</u>

⁴¹ See Ed Pilkington and Suzanne Goldenberg, "ALEC facing funding crisis from donor exodus in wake of Trayvon Martin row," *Guardian*, December 3, 2013, <u>https://www.theguardian.com/world/2013/dec/03/alec-funding-crisis-big-donors-trayvon-martin</u>

⁴² Brad McElhinny, "Justice signs bill dealing with guns in employers' parking lots," WV MetroNews, March 23, 2018, <u>http://wvmetronews.com/2018/03/23/justice-signs-bill-dealing-with-guns-in-employers-parking-lots/</u>. See also, Linley Sanders, "NRA-Backed Laws Are Still Being Passed in Some State Legislatures," Teen Vogue, April 19, 2018, <u>https://www.teenvogue.com/story/nra-backed-laws-still-passed-state-legislatures;</u> Chris Lawrence, "Manufacturers group worries about bill to allow guns in parking lots," VW MetroNews, March 7, 2018, <u>http://wvmetronews.com/2018/03/07/manufacturers-group-worries-about-bill-to-allow-guns-in-parking-lots/</u>

⁴³ "NRA, Olympic Shooter Sue California Over Its Restrictions on Ammunition Sales," April 26, 2018, *Los Angeles Times*, April 27, 2018, <u>http://ktla.com/2018/04/26/nra-olympic-shooter-sue-california-over-its-restrictions-on-ammunition-sales/</u>

⁴⁴ "NRA files federal lawsuit challenging Florida gun-safety bill," *Reuters*, March 9, 2018,

https://www.reuters.com/article/us-usa-guns-florida-nra/nra-files-federal-lawsuit-challenging-florida-gun-safetybill-idUSKCN1GL30C

⁴⁵ "NRA backs lawsuit claiming NJ handgun policy is 'unconstitutional,'" News 12 New Jersey, February 8, 2018, http://newjersey.news12.com/story/37453873/nra-backs-lawsuit-claiming-nj-handgun-policy-is-unconstitutional ⁴⁶ "NRA threatens lawsuit after US Virgin Islands governor orders weapons seizure," Fox News, September 5, 2017, http://www.foxnews.com/us/2017/09/05/us-virgin-islands-governor-orders-seizure-citizens-weapons-nrathreatens-to-sue.html ⁴⁷ Patrick McGreevy, "NRA files second lawsuit challenging state guns laws, this time targeting ban on highcapacity magazines," *Los Angeles Times*, May 18, 2017, <u>http://www.latimes.com/politics/essential/la-pol-ca-</u> <u>essential-politics-updates-nra-files-second-lawsuit-challenging-1495148824-htmlstory.html</u>

⁴⁸ Travis Andersen, "NRA files lawsuit over ban on assault weapons in Mass.," *Boston Globe*, January 24, 2017, <u>https://www.bostonglobe.com/metro/2017/01/23/mass-chapter-nra-targets-state-assault-weapons-ban-federal-</u> <u>lawsuit-against-healey/IX7YTBuknWbWxM7BFDJ8LO/story.html</u>

"The NRA Is Suing Maura Healey and Charlie Baker," Boston Magazine, January 24, 2017,

https://www.bostonmagazine.com/news/2017/01/24/maura-healey-charlie-baker-nra-lawsuit/

⁴⁹ Aaron Smith, "NRA sues Seattle over \$25 gun tax," CNN, August 25, 2015,

http://money.cnn.com/2015/08/25/smallbusiness/nra-seattle-gun-tax-lawsuit/index.html

⁵⁰ "Philadelphia, Pennsylvania, sued by NRA along with 2 other cities," *Associated Press*, January 14, 2015, <u>https://www.cbsnews.com/news/philadelphia-pennsylvania-sued-by-nra-along-with-2-other-cities/</u>

⁵¹ Leslie Scism, "National Rifle Association Sues Its Insurance Broker," *Wall Street Journal*, May 4, 2018, <u>https://www.wsj.com/articles/national-rifle-association-sues-its-insurance-broker-over-new-york-fine-</u>

<u>1525467136</u>, discussing National Rifle Association of America v. Lockton Affinity Series of Lockton Affinity, LLC, Case No. 1:18cv542 (E.D. Va.)(complaint filed May 4, 2018).

⁵² Ibid.

⁵³ Suzanne Barlyn, "NRA sues New York governor, regulator for 'blacklisting campaign," *Reuters*, May 11, 2018, <u>https://www.reuters.com/article/us-usa-guns-nra-new-york/nra-sues-new-york-governor-regulator-for-blacklisting-campaign-idUSKBN1IC2AK</u>

⁵⁴ Ibid.

⁵⁵ See Center for Justice & Democracy, *Limiting Lawsuits: Small Businesses' Least Concern* (October 2017), http://centerid.org/system/files/SmallBiz2017UpdateF2.pdf

⁵⁶ National Federation of Independent Business, *Small Business Problems & Priorities* (August 2016), <u>http://www.nfib.com/assets/NFIB-Problems-and-Priorities-2016.pdf</u>

⁵⁷ See Center for Justice & Democracy, *Limiting Lawsuits: Small Businesses' Least Concern* (October 2017), <u>http://centerjd.org/system/files/SmallBiz2017UpdateF2.pdf</u>

⁵⁸ Center for Media and Democracy, "NFIB's Legal Arm,"

https://www.sourcewatch.org/index.php/NFIB's_Legal_Arm (viewed May 25, 2018). See also, Center for Responsive Politics, "National Fedn of Independent Business,"

https://www.opensecrets.org/lobby/clientbills.php?id=Doooooo160&year=2018 (bills lobbied, 2018 as of May 25, 2018), https://www.opensecrets.org/lobby/clientbills.php?id=Doooooo160&year=2017 (bills lobbied, 2017),

https://www.opensecrets.org/lobby/clientbills.php?id=Doooooo16o&year=2016 (bills lobbied, 2016).

⁵⁹ National Federation of Independent Business, "Legal," <u>https://www.nfib.com/advocacy/legal/</u> (viewed May 12, 2018).

⁶⁰ See, e.g., Center for Justice & Democracy, "How Small Businesses Benefit From Class Actions," October 14, 2014, <u>https://centerjd.org/content/fact-sheet-how-small-businesses-benefit-class-actions</u>

⁶¹ 133 S. Ct. 2304 (June 20, 2013).

⁶² Respondent's Brief, *American Express Co. v. Italian Restaurant*, No. 12-133, January 22, 2013, <u>http://www.americanbar.org/content/dam/aba/publications/supreme_court_preview/briefs-v2/12-133_resp.authcheckdam.pdf</u> (argued February 27, 2013).

⁶³ Testimony of NFIB Small Business Legal Center Senior Executive Counsel Elizabeth Milito before the U.S. House Constitution and Civil Justice Subcommittee, Hearing on "Lawsuit Abuse Reduction Act of 2015," March 17, 2015, <u>https://judiciary.house.gov/wp-content/uploads/2016/02/Milito-03172015.pdf</u>

⁶⁴ National Federation of Independent Business, "Frivolous Lawsuits," February 29, 2016, <u>https://www.nfib.com/content/issues/legal/frivolous-lawsuits-326/</u> (viewed May 12, 2018).

⁶⁵ Center for Responsive Politics, "Clients lobbying on H.R.3624: Fraudulent Joinder Prevention Act of 2016," <u>https://www.opensecrets.org/lobby/billsum.php?id=hr3624-114</u>

⁶⁶ Center for Responsive Politics, "Clients lobbying on H.R.720: Lawsuit Abuse Reduction Act of 2017," <u>https://www.opensecrets.org/lobby/billsum.php?id=hr720-115</u>, "Clients lobbying on S.237: Lawsuit Abuse Reduction Act of 2017," <u>https://www.opensecrets.org/lobby/billsum.php?id=s237-115</u>, and "Clients lobbying on H.R.2655: Lawsuit Abuse Reduction Act of 2013" <u>https://www.opensecrets.org/lobby/billsum.php?id=hr2655-113</u>

⁶⁷ Center for Media and Democracy, "Justice Denied: 71 ALEC Bills in 2013 Make It Harder to Hold Corporations Accountable for Causing Injury or Death," July 10, 2013, <u>https://www.prwatch.org/news/2013/07/12172/justice-denied-71-alec-bills-2013-make-it-harder-hold-corporations-accountable-ca</u>

⁶⁸ See member directories attached to meeting agendas for Civil Justice Task Force meetings (on file with CJ&D); Jamie Corey, "Revealed: Names of Alec Lobbyist and Legislator Members," *Documented*, March 8, 2018, <u>http://documentedinvestigations.org/2018/03/08/revealed-names-alec-lobbyist-legislator-members/</u>. *See also*, Center for Media and Democracy, "National Federation of Independent Business,"

https://www.sourcewatch.org/index.php/National Federation of Independent Business (viewed May 25, 2018). ⁶⁹ NFIB Small Business Legal Center, "About the Legal Center," <u>https://www.nfib.com/foundations/legal-</u> center/about-the-legal-center/ (viewed May 12, 2018).

^{7°} NFIB Small Business Legal Center, "Case Index," <u>http://www.nfib.com/foundations/legal-center/case-index/</u> (viewed May 12, 2018).

⁷¹ NFIB Small Business Legal Center, *2016 Annual Report* (September 2017), <u>https://www.nfib.com/assets/SBLC-Annual-Report-2016-WEB.pdf</u>

⁷² NFIB Small Business Legal Center, "Small Business Courtroom Victories,"

https://www.nfib.com/foundations/legal-center/small-business-courtroom-victories/ (viewed May 12, 2018).

⁷³ NFIB Small Business Legal Center, *2016 Annual Report* (September 2017), <u>https://www.nfib.com/assets/SBLC-Annual-Report-2016-WEB.pdf</u>

⁷⁴ See, e.g., "Public Safety at Risk," Safety Research & Strategies, June 23, 2009.

⁷⁵ See American Association for Justice, *Do As I Say, Not As I Sue* (October 2011),

https://www.justice.org/sites/default/files/file-uploads/Do_As_I_Say_Not_As_I_Sue_2011.pdf

⁷⁶ Matthew Goldstein and Barry Meier, "As Scandal Unfolds, G.M. Calls In the Lawyers," *New York Times*, March 15, 2014, <u>https://www.nytimes.com/2014/03/16/business/general-motors-calls-the-lawyers.html</u>

⁷⁷ Hilary Stout and Bill Vlasik, "Hoping to Fend Off Suits, G.M. Is to Return to Bankruptcy Court," *New York Times*, May 1, 2014, <u>https://www.nytimes.com/2014/05/02/business/hoping-to-fend-off-suits-gm-to-return-to-bankruptcy-court.html</u>

⁷⁸ Linda Sandler, "GM Asks Judge to Keep Information From Consumer Advocate," *Bloomberg*, May 30, 2014, <u>https://www.bloomberg.com/news/articles/2014-05-30/gm-asks-judge-to-protect-information-sought-from-u-s-</u>

⁷⁹ "GM could now face billions in ignition switch claims," Associated Press, July 13, 2016,

https://www.cbsnews.com/news/gm-could-now-face-billions-in-ignition-switch-claims/

⁸⁰ Brent Snavely, "Court: GM gets no shield from old ignition-switch cases," *Detroit Free Press*, April 24, 2017, <u>https://www.usatoday.com/story/money/cars/2017/04/24/court-gm-gets-no-shield-old-ignition-switch-</u>

<u>cases/100842980/</u>. See also, Richard Read, "Supreme Court confirms that new GM can be sued for old GM's ignition switches," Car Connection, April 25, 2017, <u>https://www.washingtonpost.com/cars/supreme-court-confirms-that-new-gm-can-be-sued-for-old-gms-ignition-switches/2017/04/25/70af7b90-29e4-11e7-9081f5405f56d3e4_story.html</u>

⁸¹ See Rick Archer, "GM Trust Seeks OK For Ignition Switch Settlement," *Law360*, May 3, 2018, <u>https://www.law360.com/classaction/articles/1040226/gm-trust-seeks-ok-for-ignition-switch-settlement;</u> Erik Larson, "GM Again Faces \$1 Billion Stock Fight Over Bankruptcy Accord," *Bloomberg*, April 26, 2018, <u>https://www.bloomberg.com/news/articles/2018-04-26/gm-trust-reaches-settlement-with-ignition-switch-</u> <u>plaintiffs</u>; Shayna Posses, "GM Loses Quick-Win Bid In Faulty Ignition Switch MDL," *Law360*, April 3, 2018, <u>https://www.law360.com/articles/1029393/gm-loses-quick-win-bid-in-faulty-ignition-switch-mdl</u>

⁸² Linda Sandler, "GM Asks Judge to Keep Information From Consumer Advocate," *Bloomberg*, May 30, 2014, <u>https://www.bloomberg.com/news/articles/2014-05-30/gm-asks-judge-to-protect-information-sought-from-u-s-</u>

⁸³ See docket for GM L.L.C. v. Autel.US Inc., 2016 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 40902 (E.D. Mich.)

⁸⁴ Peter Leung, "GM Copyright Suit Against Car Diagnostic Toolmaker Survives," *Bloomberg BNA*, March 31, 2016, <u>https://www.bna.com/gm-copyright-suit-n57982069279/</u>, discussing *GM L.L.C. v. Autel.US Inc.*, 2016 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 40902 (filed March 29, 2016).

⁸⁵ General Motors LLC v. Grossinger City Autoplex, Inc., Case No. 1:18cv2748 (N.D. III.)(complaint filed April 17, 2018).

⁸⁶ Jackie Charniga, "GM sues group over sale of stores," Automotive News, April 30, 2018,

http://www.autonews.com/article/20180430/RETAIL07/180439993/gm-sues-group-over-sale-of-stores

⁸⁷ See docket for General Motors LLC v. Grossinger City Autoplex, Inc., Case No. 1:18cv2748 (N.D. III.)

⁸⁸ See docket for GM LLC v. Dorman Prods., Case No. 2:15cv12917 (E.D. Mich.)(viewed May 3, 2018); GM LLC v. Dorman Prods., 2018 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 44894 (order denying plaintiffs' motion to dismiss counterclaim, filed March 20, 2018).

⁸⁹ *GM LLC v. Dorman Prods.*, 2016 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 135721 (opinion and order granting in part defendants' motion to dismiss plaintiffs' amended complaint, filed September 30, 2016).

^{9°} See GM LLC v. Dorman Prods., Case No. 2:15cv12917 (E.D. Mich.)(complaint filed August 17, 2015).

⁹¹ Bonnie Eslinger, "Fiat Chrysler Botched Recall Row Survives, Returns To Calif.," *Law360*, November 20, 2017, <u>https://www.law360.com/articles/986817/fiat-chrysler-botched-recall-row-survives-returns-to-calif</u>, discussing *Grimstad v. FCA US LLC*, 2017 Bankr. LEXIS 1160 (memorandum decision granting in part and denying in part motion to dismiss first amended complaint, decided April 28, 2017).

⁹² "Judge won't dismiss lawsuit tied to Jeep Liberty crash," Associated Press, November 17, 2017,

https://www.detroitnews.com/story/business/autos/chrysler/2017/11/17/jeep-lawsuit/107772518/, discussing *White v. FCA US, LLC*, 579 B.R. 804 (opinion and order denying motion to remand and motion to dismiss, filed November 16, 2017).

⁹³ FCA US LLC v. Cummings, Case No. 2:16-CV-12883 (E.D. Mich.)(complaint filed August 5, 2016).

⁹⁴ See docket for FCA US LLC v. Cummings, Case No. 2:16-CV-12883 (E.D. Mich.)

⁹⁵ FCA US, LLC v. Capital Acquisitions, LLC, Case No. 5:17-cv- 11062-JCO-EAS (E.D. Mich.)(complaint filed April 4, 2017).

⁹⁶ See docket for FCA US, LLC v. Capital Acquisitions, LLC, Case No. 5:17-cv- 11062-JCO-EAS (E.D. Mich.); FCA US, LLC v. Capital Acquisitions, LLC, Case No. 5:17-cv- 11062-JCO-EAS (E.D. Mich.)(order and permanent injunction filed July 26, 2017), https://www.leagle.com/decision/infdc020170727c14

⁹⁷ See docket for FCA US LLC v. Eagle Auto-Mall Corp., Case No. 2:14-CV-12964 (E.D. Mich.)(viewed May 4, 2018).

⁹⁸ FCA US LLC v. Bullock, Case No. 2:17-cv-13972-MAG-APP (E.D. Mich)(complaint filed December 8, 2017).
⁹⁹ Kat Greene, "Chrysler Pushes Bulk Of Race Bias Claimants Into Arbitration," Law360, May 24, 2018,

https://www.law36o.com/articles/1047293/chrysler-pushes-bulk-of-race-bias-claimants-into-arbitration

¹⁰⁰ **Center for Justice & Democracy, "**Civil Rights Class Actions: A Singularly Effective Tool to Combat Discrimination," January 6, 2014, <u>https://centerjd.org/content/fact-sheet-civil-rights-class-actions-singularly-effective-tool-combat-discrimination</u>

¹⁰¹ See, e.g., Center for Justice & Democracy, "Cases Tossed Out of Court Because of Forced Arbitration Causes and Class Action Bans," October 22, 2015, <u>https://centerjd.org/content/fact-sheet-cases-tossed-out-court-</u> <u>because-forced-arbitration-causes-and-class-action-bans</u> ¹⁰² Consumer Watchdog, "Comments on Removing Regulatory Barriers for Vehicles with Automated Driving Systems," Docket No. NHTSA-2018-0009, March 20, 2018,

http://www.consumerwatchdog.org/sites/default/files/2018-03/NHTSAcomments032018.pdf

¹⁰³ Michael Hiltzik, "An appeals court just handed Uber a huge victory over its passengers," *Los Angeles Times*, August 21, 2017, <u>http://www.latimes.com/business/hiltzik/la-fi-hiltzik-uber-arbitration-20170821-story.html</u>; Economic Policy Institute, "Uber and arbitration: A lethal combination," May 24, 2016, https://www.epi.org/blog/uber-and-arbitration-a-lethal-combination/

¹⁰⁴ Bernie Woodall, "Uber avoids legal battle with family of autonomous vehicle victim," *Reuters*, March 28, 2018, <u>https://www.reuters.com/article/us-autos-selfdriving-uber-settlement/uber-avoids-legal-battle-with-family-of-autonomous-vehicle-victim-idUSKBN1H5092</u>

¹⁰⁵ Office of U.S. Senator Richard Blumenthal, "Ten Senators Seek Information from Autonomous Vehicle Manufacturers on Their Use of Forced Arbitration Clauses," March 23, 2018,

https://www.blumenthal.senate.gov/newsroom/press/release/ten-senators-seek-information-from-autonomous-vehicle-manufacturers-on-their-use-of-forced-arbitration-clauses

¹⁰⁶ E. Tammy Kim, "Uber Should 'Do the Right Thing' for All of Its Workers," *New York Times*, May 17, 2018, https://www.nytimes.com/2018/05/17/opinion/uber-arbitration-sexual-harassment.html
¹⁰⁷ Ibid.

¹⁰⁸ Michael Hiltzik, "An appeals court just handed Uber a huge victory over its passengers," *Los Angeles Times*, August 21, 2017, <u>http://www.latimes.com/business/hiltzik/la-fi-hiltzik-uber-arbitration-20170821-story.html</u> ¹⁰⁹ Braden Campbell, "Uber Says High Court's Waiver Ruling Dooms Driver Class," *Law360*, June 5, 2018, <u>https://www.law360.com/employment/articles/1050457/uber-says-high-court-s-waiver-ruling-dooms-driver-</u> class

¹¹⁰ Suzanne Vranica and Alexandra Bruell, "Uber Sues Mobile Agency Alleging Ad Fraud," *Wall Street Journal*, September 19, 2017, <u>https://www.wsj.com/articles/uber-sues-mobile-agency-alleging-ad-fraud-1505787048</u>, discussing *Uber Technologies Inc. v. Fetch Media Ltd.*, Case No. 3:17-cv-05393 (N.D. Cal.)(complaint filed September 18, 2017).

¹¹¹ Darcy Reddan, "Uber Says Mobile Ad Co. Took It For An \$83M Ride," *Law360*, September 19, 2017, <u>https://www.law360.com/articles/965303/uber-says-mobile-ad-co-took-it-for-an-83m-ride</u>

¹¹² See Fetch Media, Ltd. v. Uber Techs., Inc., 2018 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 26019.

¹¹³ Allison Grande, "Anonymous Hacker Wins Stay Of Uber's Data Breach Suit," *Law360*, September 10, 2015, <u>https://www.law360.com/articles/701564/anonymous-hacker-wins-stay-of-uber-s-data-breach-suit</u>. *See also*, Joe Van Acker, "Uber Can't Unmask Accused Hacker In Data Breach Just Yet," *Law360*, January 15, 2016,

https://www.law36o.com/articles/747062/uber-can-t-unmask-accused-hacker-in-data-breach-just-yet; Uber

Technologies, Inc. v. Doe I, Case No. 3:15cv908 (N.D. Cal.)(complaint filed February 27, 2015).

¹¹⁴ Airbnb, "Terms of Service," April 16, 2018, <u>https://www.airbnb.com/terms#sec19</u>

¹¹⁵ Katie Benner, "Airbnb Vows to Fight Racism, but Its Users Can't Sue to Prompt Fairness," *New York Times*, June 19, 2016, <u>https://www.nytimes.com/2016/06/20/technology/airbnb-vows-to-fight-racism-but-its-users-cant-sue-</u> to-prompt-fairness.html

¹¹⁶ Adam Rhodes, "Justices Won't Hear Airbnb Race Bias Suit," *Law360*, October 2, 2017, https://www.law360.com/articles/970213/justices-won-t-hear-airbnb-race-bias-suit

¹¹⁷ Katie Benner, "Airbnb Settles Lawsuit With Its Hometown, San Francisco," New York Times, May 1, 2017,

https://www.nytimes.com/2017/05/01/technology/airbnb-san-francisco-settle-registration-lawsuit.html

¹¹⁸ Ibid; Carolyn Said, "Airbnb sues to block new SF law," *San Francisco Chronicle*, June 29, 2016, http://www.sfgate.com/business/article/Airbnb-seeks-to-block-new-SF-law-8328045.php

¹¹⁹ Katie Benner, "Airbnb Settles Lawsuit With Its Hometown, San Francisco," *New York Times*, May 1, 2017, <u>https://www.nytimes.com/2017/05/01/technology/airbnb-san-francisco-settle-registration-lawsuit.html</u> ¹²⁰ Katie Benner, "Airbnb Sues Over New Law Regulating New York Rentals," *New York Times*, October 21, 2017, <u>https://www.nytimes.com/2016/10/22/technology/new-york-passes-law-airbnb.html</u>, discussing *Airbnb Inc v. Schneiderman*, Case No. 16-08239 (S.D.N.Y)(complaint filed October 21, 2016),

http://assets.law36onews.com/o854000/854420/16cv8239%20cmp.pdf

¹²¹ Fola Akinnibi, "Airbnb, NY Settle Short-Term Rental Law Spat," *Law360*, November 22, 2016, <u>https://www.law360.com/articles/865446/airbnb-ny-settle-short-term-rental-law-spat</u>

¹²² Katie Benner, "Airbnb Ends Fight With New York City Over Fines," *New York Times*, December 3, 2016, <u>https://www.nytimes.com/2016/12/03/technology/airbnb-ends-fight-with-new-york-city-over-fines.html</u>. *See also*, Nate Raymond, "Airbnb, New York City settle rental law lawsuit," *Reuters*, December 2, 2016, <u>https://www.reuters.com/article/us-airbnb-new-york-idUSKBN13S03U</u>

¹²³ Amazon, "Conditions of Use," October 3, 2017,

https://www.amazon.com/gp/help/customer/display.html/?nodeId=508088 (viewed April 30, 2018).

 ¹²⁴ Amazon.com, Inc. v. Uniloc USA, Inc., Case No. 2:17-cv-01307 (W.D. Wash.)(complaint filed August 29, 2017).
¹²⁵ Amazon.com Inc. V. FBA Stores, LLC, Case No. 2:17-cv-01830 (W.D. Wash)(complaint filed December 6, 2017), https://www.scribd.com/document/366689731/amazon-v-fba-stores-et-al-complaint. See also, Ben Fox Rubin, "Get rich quick on Amazon? Lawsuits target alleged scammers," CNET, December 11, 2017,

https://www.cnet.com/news/amazon-scam-lawsuit-bowser-washington/

¹²⁶ Sarah Perez, "Amazon cracks down on fake reviews with another lawsuit," *TechCrunch*, April 26, 2016, <u>https://techcrunch.com/2016/04/26/amazon-cracks-down-on-fake-reviews-with-another-lawsuit/</u>

¹²⁷ Verizon, "Customer Agreement," April 13, 2018, <u>https://www.verizonwireless.com/legal/notices/customer-agreement/</u>

¹²⁸ Jon Brodkin, "Verizon says Yahoo users must waive class-action rights – or stop using Yahoo," *Ars Technica*, April 25, 2018, <u>https://arstechnica.com/tech-policy/2018/04/verizon-says-yahoo-users-must-waive-class-action-rights-or-stop-using-yahoo/</u>

¹²⁹ Madeleine Behr, "Verizon sues Appleton over cell tower," USA Today, August 23, 2016,

https://www.postcrescent.com/story/news/local/2016/08/23/verizon-sues-appleton-over-cell-tower/89115594/ ¹³⁰ Robert Gavin, "Verizon sues Clifton Park for rejecting cell tower application," *Albany Times-Union*, March 14, 2017, https://www.timesunion.com/local/article/Verizon-sues-Clifton-Park-for-rejecting-cell-11001528.php

¹³¹ Nicole Narea, "Verizon Sues Mass. Town Over Blocked Cell Tower Application," *Law360*, June 21, 2017, <u>https://www.law360.com/articles/936622/verizon-sues-mass-town-over-blocked-cell-tower-application</u>

¹³² Chuck Stanley, "Verizon Sues NY Town Over Nixed Wetlands Permit," *Law360*, February 21, 2018, <u>https://www.law360.com/articles/1014400/verizon-sues-ny-town-over-nixed-wetlands-permit</u>

¹³³ Thanks to Public Justice Executive Director Paul Bland for alerting the Center for Justice & Democracy to this. ¹³⁴ See, e.g., Independent Community Bankers of America, Industry Letter Urging Support for H.J. Res. 111 (Nullifying the CFPB's Recent Arbitration Rule) to U.S. Sens. McConnell, Schumer, Crapo and Brown, dated September 11, 2017, <u>http://www.icba.org/docs/default-source/icba/advocacy-documents/letters-to-</u> <u>congress/2017/ltro91117b.pdf</u>, ICBA Letter on CFPB Arbitration (H.J. Res. 111) to the U.S. House of Representatives, dated July 24, 2017, <u>http://www.icba.org/docs/default-source/icba/advocacy-documents/letters-to-</u> <u>to-congress/2017/ltro72417.pdf</u> and ICBA Letter on CFPB Arbitration (S.J. Res. 47) to the U.S. Senate, dated July

24, 2017, <u>http://www.icba.org/docs/default-source/icba/advocacy-documents/letters-to-</u> congress/2017/ltro72417a.pdf

¹³⁵ See Independent Community Bankers of America et al., Independent Community Bankers of America, Comments to the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau on the Arbitration Agreements proposed rule, dated August 22, 2016, <u>http://www.icba.org/docs/default-source/icba/advocacy-documents/letters-to-</u> regulators/2016/ltro82216.pdf; Independent Community Bankers of America, Comments to the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau on the Arbitration Agreements proposed rule, dated August 19, 2016,

http://www.icba.org/docs/default-source/icba/advocacy-documents/letters-to-regulators/2016/clo81916.pdf ¹³⁶ See, e.g., Independent Community Bankers of America, "ICBA Applauds Final Passage of Resolution Blocking CFPB Arbitration Ruling," October 25, 2017, http://www.icba.org/news/news-details-results/2017/10/25/icbaapplauds-final-passage-of-resolution-blocking-cfpb-arbitration-ruling, "ICBA Applauds House Passage of Resolution Blocking CFPB Arbitration Ruling," July 25, 2017, https://www.icba.org/news/news-detailsresults/2017/07/25/icba-applauds-house-passage-of-resolution-blocking-cfpb-arbitration-ruling and "CBA Strongly Opposes CFPB Arbitration Agreements Final Rule," July 11, 2017, https://www.icba.org/news/newsdetails-results/2017/07/11/icba-strongly-opposes-cfpb-arbitration-agreements-final-rule

¹³⁷ Independent Community Bankers of America, "ICBA Statement on Arbitration Rule Bill Signing," November 1, 2017, <u>https://www.icba.org/news/news-details-results/2017/11/01/icba-statement-on-arbitration-rule-bill-signing</u> ¹³⁸ Ibid.

¹³⁹ Independent Community Bankers of America, "ICBA Issues FAQs on Equifax Lawsuit," January 5, 2018, <u>http://www.icba.org/news/news-details-results/2018/01/05/icba-issues-faqs-on-equifax-lawsuit</u>, discussing *Independent Community Bankers of America v. Equifax Inc.*, Case No. 1:17-cv-04756-MHC (N.D. Ga.)(complaint filed November 27, 2017), <u>http://www.icba.org/docs/default-source/icba/advocacy-documents/cyber-</u> <u>security/ICBAcomplaint-equifax.pdf</u>

¹⁴⁰ Independent Community Bankers of America, "ICBA Sues Equifax Over Massive Data Breach," November 28, 2017, <u>http://www.cbai.com/downloads/ICBAPressRelease-enews1217.pdf</u>

¹⁴¹ Jessica Silver-Greenberg and Michael Corkery, "Sued Over Old Debt, and Blocked From Suing Back," *New York Times*, December 22, 2015, <u>https://www.nytimes.com/2015/12/23/business/dealbook/sued-over-old-debt-and-blocked-from-suing-back.html</u>

¹⁴² Joanne Doroshow, *The Case of the Civil Jury: Safeguarding a Pillar of Democracy*, Center for Study of Responsive Law (1992, 1995), <u>https://zdoc.site/the-case-for-the-civil-jury-center-for-study-of-responsive-l.html</u>

¹⁴³ Jane Fritsch, "Sometimes, Lobbyists Strive To Keep Public in the Dark," *New York Times*, March 19, 1996, <u>https://www.nytimes.com/1996/03/19/us/sometimes-lobbyists-strive-to-keep-public-in-the-dark.html</u>

¹⁴⁴ John Gannon, *Tort Deform - Lethal Bedfellows*. Essential Information (1995).

¹⁴⁵ The U.S. Supreme Court has held that insurance companies may not boycott their insureds by agreeing to deny them coverage entirely. *St. Paul Fire & Marine Inc. Co. v. Barry*, 438 U.S. 531 (1978).

¹⁴⁶ In re Insurance Antitrust Litigation, MDL No. 767, Case No. C-88-1688 [CAL] (N.D. Cal.); State of Texas v. Insurance Services Office, Inc., Case No. 439089 (Tex. Dist. Ct., Travis Co., 53rd Jud. Dist., filed March 22, 1998). See also, "Final Approval Given To Insurance Antitrust Settlement," *Mealey's Litigation Reports*, April 18, 1995; "Ten States Announce They Will Join Antitrust Suits," *Insurance Antitrust & Tort Reform Report*, June 15, 1986; Joanne Doroshow and Adrian Wilkes, *Goliath: Lloyd's of London in the United States*, Center for Study of Responsive Law (1988).

¹⁴⁷ See Paul Brodeur, "Annals of Law: The Asbestos Industry on Trial, Part 1 – A Failure to Warn," "Part 2 – Discovery," "Part 3 – Judgement" and "Park IV – Bankruptcy," New Yorker Magazine (1985).

¹⁴⁸ Center for Justice & Democracy, "FAQ: Asbestos – The Awful Truth," January 31, 2018,

https://centerjd.org/content/faq-asbestos-%E2%80%93-awful-truth

¹⁴⁹ Marianne Bonner, "Top 25 U.S. Property/Casualty Insurers," *The Balance*, May 7, 2018, <u>https://www.thebalancesmb.com/top-u-s-property-casualty-insurers-462505</u>

¹⁵⁰ Internal Revenue Service, "U.S. Chamber Institute for Legal Reform 2016 Form 990," retrieved from <u>https://www.guidestar.org</u>; American Association for Justice, *Do As I Say, Not As I Sue* (October 2011), <u>https://www.justice.org/sites/default/files/file-uploads/Do As I Say Not As I Sue 2011.pdf</u>

¹⁵¹ Center for Responsive Politics, "Clients lobbying on H.R.985: Fairness in Class Action Litigation and Furthering Asbestos Claim Transparency Act of 2017," <u>https://www.opensecrets.org/lobby/billsum.php?id=hr985-115</u> (viewed May 25, 2018)

¹⁵² Center for Media and Democracy, "State Farm," <u>https://www.sourcewatch.org/index.php/State_Farm</u> (viewed May 25, 2018) and "State Farm Insurance Claims 'No Fault' in Bankrolling ALEC," April 16, 2012, <u>https://www.prwatch.org/news/2012/04/11439/state-farm-insurance-claims-no-fault-bankrolling-alec</u>

¹⁵³ See member directories and conference agenda attached to meeting agendas for Civil Justice Task Force meetings (on file with CJ&D); Jamie Corey, "Revealed: Names of Alec Lobbyist and Legislator Members," *Documented*, March 8, 2018, <u>http://documentedinvestigations.org/2018/03/08/revealed-names-alec-lobbyist-legislator-members/</u>

¹⁵⁴ See, e.g., American Association for Justice, Do As I Say, Not As I Sue (October 2011),

<u>https://www.justice.org/sites/default/files/file-uploads/Do As I Say Not As I Sue 2011.pdf</u>; Americans for Insurance Reform, "The Insurance Industry's Troubling Response to Hurricane Katrina," January 2006, <u>https://www.centerid.org/air/pr/KATRINAREPORT.pdf</u>

¹⁵⁵ See, e.g., Nina Totenberg, "Supreme Court Upholds Hurricane Katrina Fraud Verdict Against State Farm," NPR, December 6, 2016, <u>https://www.npr.org/sections/thetwo-way/2016/12/06/504572603/supreme-court-upholds-hurricane-katrina-fraud-verdict-against-state-farm</u>

¹⁵⁶ See, e.g., "Judge Allows Counterclaims To Proceed In Suit Over False Hurricane Katrina Claims," *Mealey's*, June 2, 2016, <u>https://www.lexislegalnews.com/articles/8801/judge-allows-counterclaims-to-proceed-in-suit-over-false-hurricane-katrina-claims</u>

¹⁵⁷ State Farm Fire and Casualty Company v. Admiral Insurance Company, Case No. 4:15-cv-02745-RMG (D.S.C.)(complaint filed July 10, 2015).

¹⁵⁸ Jeff Sistrunk, "State Farm Can't Recover Hazing Injury Settlement Payment," *Law360*, January 25, 2017, https://www.law360.com/articles/884831/state-farm-can-t-recover-hazing-injury-settlement-payment

¹⁵⁹ State Farm Mutual Automobile Insurance Company v. Lazo, 2016 WL 6082106 (S.D. Fla.)(stipulation for dismissal with prejudice entered January 4, 2016); State Farm Mutual Automobile Insurance Company v. Lazo, 2015 WL 11251459 (S.D. Fla.)(order entered July 16, 2015).

¹⁶⁰ Michael Hiltzik, "State Farm Pulls Out All the Legal Stops to Avoid Paying \$100 Million in Customer Refunds," Los Angeles Times, February 16, 2018, <u>http://www.latimes.com/business/hiltzik/la-fi-hiltzik-state-farm-20180216-</u> story.html

¹⁶¹ Consumer Watchdog, "US Supreme Court Refuses to Hear Mercury Insurance Challenge to Prop 103 Insurance Rules that Saved California Motorists Over \$100 Billion," February 20, 2018,

http://consumerwatchdog.org/insurance/us-supreme-court-refuses-hear-mercury-insurance-challenge-prop-103insurance-rules-saved

¹⁶² Ibid.

¹⁶³ Ibid.

¹⁶⁴ James Rufus Koren, "Judge says State Farm shouldn't have to cut homeowner rates in blow to insurance commissioner," *Los Angeles Times*, March 27, 2018, <u>http://www.latimes.com/business/la-fi-state-farm-rates-20180326-story.html</u>

¹⁶⁵ Ibid.

¹⁶⁶ Center for Responsive Politics, "Clients lobbying on H.R.906: Furthering Asbestos Claim Transparency (FACT) Act of 2017," <u>https://www.opensecrets.org/lobby/billsum.php?id=hr906-115</u>

¹⁶⁷ Frank Klimko, "Liberty Mutual Accuses Ex-Agent of Diverting Customers, Absconding With Trade Secrets," *Best's Insurance News*, April 23, 2018. *See also*, Cara Salvatore, "Liberty Mutual Hits Ex-Sales Lead With Trade Secrets Suit," *Law360*, April 19, 2018, <u>https://www.law360.com/articles/1035486/liberty-mutual-hits-ex-sales-lead-with-trade-secrets-suit</u>

¹⁶⁸ "All-Sums Allocation Must Be Applied In Asbestos Coverage Dispute, Federal Judge Says," *Mealey's*, August 9, 2016, discussing *Liberty Mutual Insurance Company v. The Fairbanks Company*, 2016 WL 4203543

(S.D.N.Y.)(memorandum opinion and order August 8, 2016), <u>https://www.lexislegalnews.com/articles/10393/all-sums-allocation-must-be-applied-in-asbestos-coverage-dispute-federal-judge-says</u>

¹⁶⁹ See docket for Liberty Mutual Insurance Company v. The Fairbanks Company, Case No. 1:13-CV-03755 (S.D.N.Y.) ¹⁷⁰ Wiessner, "SCOTUS won't hear Liberty Mutual's challenge to N.Y. workers' comp law," *Reuters*, June 4, 2018.

¹⁷¹ Marianne Bonner, "Top 25 U.S. Property/Casualty Insurers," The Balance, May 7, 2018, https://www.thebalancesmb.com/top-u-s-property-casualty-insurers-462505

¹⁷² See member directories and conference agenda attached to meeting agendas for Civil Justice Task Force meetings (on file with CJ&D).

¹⁷³ Jamie Corey, "Revealed: Names of Alec Lobbyist and Legislator Members," *Documented*, March 8, 2018, <u>http://documentedinvestigations.org/2018/03/08/revealed-names-alec-lobbyist-legislator-members/</u>

¹⁷⁴ Farmers Insurance Exchange v. Kamath, Case No. BC681655 (L.A. Cty. Super. Ct., Cal.)(complaint filed October 30, 2017). See also, Don Jergler, "Farmers Files Trade Secrets Suit in California Against Auto Club Michigan, Former Employees," Insurance Journal, October 31, 2017,

https://www.insurancejournal.com/news/west/2017/10/31/469841.htm

¹⁷⁵ See also docket for Farmers Insurance Exchange v. Broan-NuTone, Case No. 6:17-cv-00222-MC (D.Or.).

¹⁷⁶ *Farmers Insurance Exchange v. Broan-NuTone*, Case No. 6:17-cv-00222-MC (D.Or.)(notice of removal filed February 9, 2017).

¹⁷⁷ *Farmers Insurance Exchange v. Broan-NuTone, LLC*, Case No. BC607776 (L.A. Cty. Super. Ct., Cal.)(complaint filed January 22, 2016).

¹⁷⁸ See docket for Farmers Insurance Exchange v. Broan-NuTone, LLC, Case No. 2:16-CV-0343 (C.D. Cal.)

¹⁷⁹ Consumer Watchdog, "US Supreme Court Refuses to Hear Mercury Insurance Challenge to Prop 103 Insurance Rules that Saved California Motorists Over \$100 Billion," February 20, 2018,

http://consumerwatchdog.org/insurance/us-supreme-court-refuses-hear-mercury-insurance-challenge-prop-103insurance-rules-saved

¹⁸⁰ See American Association for Justice, Do As I Say, Not As I Sue (October 2011),

https://www.justice.org/sites/default/files/file-uploads/Do As I Say Not As I Sue 2011.pdf. Katherine Adams, former senior vice president and general counsel of Honeywell, just left Honeywell to join Apple. "Katherine Adams joins Apple as general counsel and SVP," October 6, 2017,

https://www.apple.com/newsroom/2017/10/katherine-adams-joins-apple-as-general-counsel-and-svp/. She was on the ILR board at least as late as 2016. Internal Revenue Service, "U.S. Chamber Institute for Legal Reform 2016 Form 990," retrieved from https://www.guidestar.org

¹⁸¹ Center for Responsive Politics, "Clients lobbying on H.R.985: Fairness in Class Action Litigation and Furthering Asbestos Claim Transparency Act of 2017," <u>https://www.opensecrets.org/lobby/billsum.php?id=hr985-115</u> and "Clients lobbying on H.R.906: Furthering Asbestos Claim Transparency (FACT) Act of 2017," <u>https://www.opensecrets.org/lobby/billsum.php?id=hr906-115</u>

¹⁸² Honeywell registered three of its executives for ALEC's 2017 annual meeting. *See* Center for Media and Democracy, "ALEC Corporations," <u>https://www.sourcewatch.org/index.php/ALEC_Corporations#cite_ref-</u> <u>CJNOLA_82-0</u> (updated April 26, 2018); Jamie Corey, "Revealed: Names of ALEC Lobbyist and Legislator Members," *Documented*, March 8, 2018, <u>http://documentedinvestigations.org/2018/03/08/revealed-names-alec-</u> <u>lobbyist-legislator-members/</u>

¹⁸³ Center for Justice & Democracy, *Not in My Backyard: The Hypocrites Of "Tort Reform"* (December 2000), <u>https://centerjd.org/content/white-paper-not-my-backyard-hypocrites-%E2%80%9Ctort-reform%E2%80%9D</u> ¹⁸⁴ Melissa Daniels, "Honeywell Sues To Stop Alarm.com's \$140M Monopoly Bid," *Law360*, February 23, 2017, https://www.law360.com/articles/895032/honeywell-sues-to-stop-alarm-com-s-140m-monopoly-bid
¹⁸⁵ See docket for *Honeywell International Inc. v. Icontrol Networks, Inc.*, Case No. 2:17cv1227 (D. N.J.)

¹⁸⁶ Shayna Posses, "Honeywell Sues Gov't To Recoup \$1.9M For Nuke Plant Fixes," *Law360*, February 20, 2018, <u>https://www.law360.com/articles/1014202/honeywell-sues-gov-t-to-recoup-1-9m-for-nuke-plant-fixes</u>, discussing *Honeywell International Inc. v. U.S.*, Case No. 1:18-cv-00249 (Fed. Cl.)(filed February 16, 2018), <u>https://www.nrc.gov/docs/ML1806/ML18065A121.pdf</u>

¹⁸⁷ Michael Phillis, "Honeywell Sue Exxon, Buckeye for NY Lake Cleanup Costs," *Lαw 360*, June 4, 2018, <u>https://www.law360.com/newyork/articles/1049750/honeywell-sues-exxon-buckeye-for-ny-lake-cleanup-costs</u>

¹⁸⁸ "Honeywell Files Lawsuit Against Code Corporation Claiming Widespread Patent Infringement," January 19, 2017, <u>https://www.honeywell.com/newsroom/pressreleases/2017/01/honeywell-files-lawsuit-against-code-</u> <u>corporation-claiming-widespread-patent-infringement</u>

¹⁸⁹ "Honeywell, The Code Corporation Reach Settlement On Patent Infringement Claims," February 12, 2018, <u>https://www.honeywell.com/newsroom/pressreleases/2018/02/honeywell-the-code-corporation-reach-</u> <u>settlement-on-patent-infringement-claims</u>

¹⁹⁰ Honeywell, "Honeywell Sues Aprilaire for Patent Infringement," September 22, 2017,

http://www.contractingbusiness.com/residential-hvac/honeywell-sues-aprilaire-patent-infringement

¹⁹¹ See docket for Honeywell International Inc. v. Research Products Corporation, Case No. 3:17-CV-00723 (W.D. Wis.)

¹⁹² See, e.g., F. Patrick Hubbard, "The Nature and Impact of the "Tort Reform" Movement," <u>35 Hofstra L. Rev.</u> <u>437</u> (2006), <u>https://law.hofstra.edu/pdf/academics/journals/lawreview/lrv_issues_v35no2_cc1.hubbard.final.pdf</u>

¹⁹³ Carl Deal and Joanne Doroshow, *The CALA Files: The Secret Campaign by Big Tobacco and Other Major Industries to Take Away Your Rights* (2000), <u>https://centerjd.org/content/cala-files-secret-campaign-big-tobacco-and-other-major-industries-take-away-your-rights</u>

¹⁹⁴ See, e.g., Stephanie Mencimer, *Blocking the Courthouse Door*. New York: Free Press (2006); "Tobacco Fee Arbitration Panel Announces First Decisions," *PR Newswire*, December 11, 1998.

¹⁹⁵ Center for Media and Democracy, "Covington & Burling,"

https://www.sourcewatch.org/index.php/Covington %26 Burling (viewed May 25, 2018).

¹⁹⁶ See, Andy Hoffman, "Life Without Lawyers In A Scandalous Age: A Response to Philip K. Howard," *Daily Kos*, April 8, 2009, <u>https://www.dailykos.com/stories/2009/4/8/717870/-Life-Without-Lawyers-In-A-Scandalous-Age-A-Response-to-Philip-K-Howard</u>, critiquing Philip K. Howard, *Life Without Lawyers: Restoring Responsibility in* America. New York: W.W. Norton & Co. (2009).

¹⁹⁷ Ibid.

¹⁹⁸ Philip K. Howard, *The Death of Common Sense: How Law is Suffocating America*. New York: Random House (1994).

¹⁹⁹ Stephen Joyce, "Covington's \$125M Fee for 3M Case 'A Little Steep': Lawmaker" *Bloomberg BNA*, March 5, 2018, <u>https://biglawbusiness.com/covingtons-125m-fee-for-3m-case-a-little-steep-lawmaker/</u>
²⁰⁰ Ibid (emphasis added).

²⁰¹ Jay Root, "Abbott Faces Questions on Settlement and His Advocacy of Tort Laws," *Texas Tribune*, August 4,
2013, <u>https://www.texastribune.org/2013/08/04/candidate-faces-questions-turnabout-and-fair-play/</u>
²⁰² Ibid.

²⁰³ Ibid.

²⁰⁴ Ibid.

²⁰⁵ Ibid.

²⁰⁶ Neena Satija, "Texas vs. the Feds – A Look at the Lawsuits," *Texas Tribune*, January 17, 2017, <u>https://www.texastribune.org/2017/01/17/texas-federal-government-lawsuits/</u> ²⁰⁷ See, e.g., Jon Greenberg, "Rick Perry says Texas added 21,000 doctors because of tort reform," *Politifact*, August 25, 2011, <u>http://www.politifact.com/truth-o-meter/statements/2011/aug/25/rick-perry/rick-perry-says-texas-added-21000-doctors-because-/;</u> Stephen Demaura, "Loser Pays,' Texas Small Business Wins," May 31, 2011, <u>https://www.nationalreview.com/corner/loser-pays-texas-small-business-wins-stephen-demaura/</u>; Morgan Smith, "2010: King of Tort Reform," *Texas Tribune*, September 16, 2010,

https://www.texastribune.org/2010/09/16/perry-says-the-state-needs-more-tort-reform/

²⁰⁸ Anita Kumar, "Perry, Gingrich lose lawsuit to get on Virginia primary ballot," Washington Post, January 13,
2012, <u>https://www.washingtonpost.com/local/dc-politics/perry-gingrich-lose-lawsuit-to-get-on-virginia-primary-ballot/2012/01/13/gIQANoIExP_story.html</u>

²⁰⁹ "THE WORST: Joe Nixon," *Texas Monthly*, <u>https://www.texasmonthly.com/list/the-best-and-the-worst-legislators-2003/the-worst-joe-nixon/</u> (viewed May 25, 2018).

²¹⁰ Emily Ramshaw, "Perry Campaign: Virginia Ruling 'Disenfranchises' Voters," *Texas Tribune*, January 13, 2012, <u>https://www.texastribune.org/2012/01/13/perry-virginia-ruling-disenfranchises-voters/</u>

²¹¹ Elizabeth Williamson, "Two Sides of Ted Cruz: Tort Reformer and Personal Injury Lawyer," *New York Times*, January 20, 2016, <u>https://www.nytimes.com/2016/01/21/0pinion/two-sides-of-ted-cruz-tort-reformer-and-</u>

personal-injury-lawyer.html; David Corn, "As a Lawyer, Ted Cruz Defended Huge Jury Awards. As a Politician, He Opposed Them." *Mother Jones*, February 11, 2015, <u>https://www.motherjones.com/politics/2015/02/ted-cruz-tort-reform-2016/</u>

²¹² Ibid.

²¹³ Cruz for Senate website, "Deterring Frivolous Lawsuits to Promote Economic Growth," <u>https://web.archive.org/web/20120928002425/http://www.tedcruz.org/proven-record/deterring-frivolous-</u> lawsuits-to-prom<u>ote-economic-growth/</u> (viewed April 14, 2018).

²¹⁴ See, e.g., Office of U.S. Senator Ted Cruz, "Sen. Cruz: We Must Deliver on Our Promise to Repeal Obamacare and Lower Healthcare Costs," June 22, 2017, <u>https://www.cruz.senate.gov/?p=press_release&id=3201</u>; David Corn, "As a Lawyer, Ted Cruz Defended Huge Jury Awards. As a Politician, He Opposed Them." *Mother Jones*, February 11, 2015, <u>https://www.motherjones.com/politics/2015/02/ted-cruz-tort-reform-2016/</u>

²¹⁵ David Corn, "As a Lawyer, Ted Cruz Defended Huge Jury Awards. As a Politician, He Opposed Them." *Mother Jones*, February 11, 2015, <u>https://www.motherjones.com/politics/2015/02/ted-cruz-tort-reform-2016/</u>
²¹⁶ Ibid.

²¹⁷ Ibid.

²¹⁸ David Corn, "Here's What Ted Cruz Won't Tell You About His Days as a Corporate Lawyer," *Mother Jones*, January 27, 2016, <u>https://www.motherjones.com/politics/2016/01/ted-cruz-private-corporate-lawyer/</u> ²¹⁹ Ibid.

²²⁰ Sarah D. Wire and Christine Mai-Duc, "Issa becomes second California Republican to announce retirement as Democrats look to reclaim House," *Los Angeles Times*, January 10, 2018, <u>http://www.latimes.com/politics/la-pol-ca-issa-retire-20180110-story.html</u>

²²¹ U.S. Rep. Darrell Issa, *The Failure to Address the Costs of Defensive Medicine in Health Care Legislation*, February 2, 2010, https://oversight.house.gov/wp-content/uploads/2012/02/20100202staffreport.pdf

²²² Press release, "Issa Sets the Record Straight on Tort Reform," February 25, 2010, <u>https://oversight.house.gov/release/issa-sets-the-record-straight-on-tort-reform/</u>

²²³ See, e.g., U.S. Rep. Darrell Issa, "Tort reform is a bipartisan must," *Politico*, February 25, 2010, <u>https://www.politico.com/story/2010/02/tort-reform-is-a-bipartisan-must-033438</u>

²²⁴ See Vote Smart, "Darrell Issa's Voting Records on Issue: Legal," <u>https://votesmart.org/candidate/key-votes/16553/darrell-issa/99/legal#.WsZXeZPwbVo</u> (viewed April 5, 2018).

²²⁵ U.S. Rep. Darrell Issa, "Voting Record," <u>https://issa.house.gov/voting-record</u> (viewed April 5, 2018). For an explanation and critique of these bills, see Center for Justice & Democracy, "Letters Opposing Six U.S. House Anti-Civil Justice Bills," <u>https://centerjd.org/content/letters-opposing-six-us-house-anti-civil-justice-bills</u>

²²⁶ Joshua Stewart, "Rep. Darrell Issa sues Doug Applegate for libel," *San Diego Union-Tribune*, November 30, 2016, <u>http://www.sandiegouniontribune.com/news/politics/sd-me-issa-lawsuit-20161123-story.html</u>

²²⁷ Joshua Stewart, "Court orders Darrell Issa to pay Doug Applegate, his campaign, \$45,000," *San Diego Union-Tribune*, September 12, 2017, <u>http://www.sandiegouniontribune.com/news/politics/sd-me-issa-lawsuit-20170911-story.html</u>

²²⁸ Appellate Brief, *Issa v. Applegate*, 2018 WL 1189312 (Cal.App. 4 Dist.)(filed February 28, 2018)(on file with CJ&D).

²²⁹ Stephanie Mencimer, "How McCain-Palin Nearly Blew Alaska, *Mother Jones*, January 25, 2010, <u>https://www.motherjones.com/politics/2010/01/sarah-palin-ted-frank-vetting/</u>

²³⁰ "Governor Sarah Palin's reaction to Exxon Valdez decision," KTVA News, June 25, 2008,

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=5H-26MOxH34

²³¹ Sarah Palin, "No Health Care Reform Without Legal Reform," August 21, 2009,

https://www.facebook.com/notes/sarah-palin/no-health-care-reform-without-legal-reform/120607013434/

²³² Kevin Bohn, "Ethics complaints follow Palin," CNN, July 24, 2009,

http://www.cnn.com/2009/POLITICS/07/24/palin.ethics/

²³³ Editorial, "Alaska is No. 1 because of tort reform," New York Post, June 4, 2010,

https://nypost.com/2010/06/04/alaska-is-no-1-because-of-tort-reform/

²³⁴ Jonathan Martin, "Attorney warns on 'defamatory material," Politico, July 4, 2009,

https://www.politico.com/story/2009/07/attorney-warns-on-defamatory-material-024521

²³⁵ Palin v. New York Times Co., 264 F. Supp. 3d 527, August 29, 2017.

²³⁶ American Enterprise Institute for Public Policy Research panel, "Katrina's Liability Implications," October 3, 2005, <u>https://www.c-span.org/video/?189162-1/katrinas-liability-implications</u>

²³⁷ Ted Frank and Martin Grace, "Faulty Studies from Center for Justice & Democracy Are Stunting the Medical-Malpractice Debate," April 24, 2006, <u>http://www.aei.org/publication/faulty-studies-from-center-for-justice-</u> democracy-are-stunting-the-medical-malpractice-debate/

²³⁸ Ted Frank, "ABA 'Blawg 100," *PointofLaw.com*, August 29, 2011,

http://www.pointoflaw.com/archives/2011/08/aba-blawg-100.php

²³⁹ Ted Frank, "Welcome," Competitive Enterprise Institute Blog, June 17, 2009, <u>https://cei.org/blog/welcome</u>

²⁴⁰ Betsy Z. Russell, "Lose in an Idaho court? Unlike other states, you may have to pay the winner's attorney," *Spokesman-Review*, December 20, 2016,

http://www.idahostatesman.com/news/northwest/idaho/article121956147.html

²⁴¹ Ted Frank and Martin Grace, "Faulty Studies from Center for Justice & Democracy Are Stunting the Medical-Malpractice Debate," April 24, 2006, <u>http://www.aei.org/publication/faulty-studies-from-center-for-justicedemocracy-are-stunting-the-medical-malpractice-debate/</u>

²⁴² "Healthcare Matters: 2018 Medical Professional Liability Market Update," *Medical Liability Monitor*, April 12, 2018, <u>http://medicalliabilitymonitor.com/news/2018/04/healthcare-matters-2018-medical-professional-liability-market-update/</u>

²⁴³ Ted Frank, "End Open-Ended Litigation," Washington Post, September 7, 2006,

http://www.washingtonpost.com/wp-dyn/content/article/2006/09/05/AR2006090500939.html

²⁴⁴ Stephanie Mencimer, "How McCain-Palin Nearly Blew Alaska," *Mother Jones*, January 25, 2010, <u>https://www.motherjones.com/politics/2010/01/sarah-palin-ted-frank-vetting/</u>

²⁴⁵ Caleb Hannan, "This Lawyer Is Making It Less Profitable to Sue When Companies Merge," *Bloomberg*, August 2, 2017, https://www.bloomberg.com/news/articles/2017-08-02/this-lawyer-is-making-it-less-profitable-to-sue-

when-companies-merge; Ashby Jones, "A Litigator Fights Class-Action Suits," *Wall Street Journal*, October 31, 2011, https://www.wsj.com/articles/SB10001424052970203554104577002190221107960

²⁴⁶ Caleb Hannan, "This Lawyer Is Making It Less Profitable to Sue When Companies Merge," *Bloomberg*, August 2, 2017, <u>https://www.bloomberg.com/news/articles/2017-08-02/this-lawyer-is-making-it-less-profitable-to-sue-</u>when-companies-merge

²⁴⁷ Alison Frankel, "Exposing class action objectors: Lieff Cabraser, Ted Frank in 'lurid' dispute," *Reuters On The Case Blog*, June 22, 2015, <u>http://blogs.reuters.com/alison-frankel/2015/06/22/exposing-class-action-objectors-lieff-cabraser-ted-frank-in-lurid-dispute/</u>

²⁴⁸ Rachel M. Zahorsky, "Unsettling Advocate," *ABA Journal* (April 2010),

http://www.abajournal.com/magazine/article/unsettling_advocate/

²⁴⁹ Susan Beck, "A Conversation With Class Action Objector Ted Frank," *American Lawyer*, March 4, 2011, <u>https://www.law.com/americanlawyer/almID/1202484335985</u>

²⁵⁰ Statement of Ted Frank before U.S. House Judiciary Subcommittee on the Constitution and Civil Justice, hearing on "Examination of Litigation Abuse: Cy Pres Settlements," March 12,

2013, https://judiciary.house.gov/files/hearings/113th/03132013/Frank%2003132013.pdf

²⁵¹ Alison Frankel, "Exposing class action objectors: Lieff Cabraser, Ted Frank in 'lurid' dispute," *Reuters On The Case Blog*, June 22, 2015, <u>http://blogs.reuters.com/alison-frankel/2015/06/22/exposing-class-action-objectors-lieff-cabraser-ted-frank-in-lurid-dispute/</u>

²⁵² Ibid.

²⁵³ Ibid.

²⁵⁴ Ibid.

²⁵⁵ Ibid.

 ²⁵⁶ Amanda Bronstad, "Class Action Objector Turns Lead Plaintiff in Suit Over Robocall," *National Law Journal*, March 10, 2017, <u>https://www.law.com/nationallawjournal/almID/1202781048286/Class-Action-Objector-Turns-Lead-Plaintiff-in-Suit-Over-Robocall/</u>, discussing *Frank v. BMOCorp. Inc.*, No. 17-870 (E.D. Mo.)(complaint filed March 10, 2017), <u>https://www.plainsite.org/dockets/download.html?id=243072737&z=1e44c8ed</u>
²⁵⁷ Ibid.

²⁵⁸ Tim Dickinson, "Inside the Koch Brothers' Toxic Empire," *Rolling Stone*, September 24, 2014,

https://www.rollingstone.com/politics/news/inside-the-koch-brothers-toxic-empire-20140924,

²⁵⁹ Center for Public Integrity, "Koch's web of influence," April 6, 2011,

https://www.publicintegrity.org/2011/04/06/3936/kochs-web-influence

²⁶⁰ Center for Media and Democracy, "Justice Denied: 71 ALEC Bills in 2013 Make It Harder to Hold Corporations Accountable for Causing Injury or Death," July 10, 2013, <u>https://www.prwatch.org/news/2013/07/12172/justice-denied-71-alec-bills-2013-make-it-harder-hold-corporations-accountable-ca</u>

²⁶¹ Internal Revenue Service, "U.S. Chamber Institute for Legal Reform 2016 Form 990," retrieved from <u>https://www.guidestar.org;</u> Center for Media and Democracy, "Institute for Legal Reform,"

https://www.sourcewatch.org/index.php/Institute_for_Legal_Reform (viewed May 25, 2018); Center for Responsive Politics, "Institute for Legal Reform: Bills, 2017,"

https://www.opensecrets.org/lobby/firmbills.php?id=Doooo22405&year=2017; American Association for Justice, Do As I Say, Not As I Sue (October 2011), https://www.justice.org/sites/default/files/fileuploads/Do_As_I_Say_Not_As_I_Sue_2011.pdf

²⁶² See member directories attached to meeting agendas for Civil Justice Task Force meetings (on file with CJ&D); Jamie Corey, "Revealed: Names of Alec Lobbyist and Legislator Members," *Documented*, March 8, 2018, <u>http://documentedinvestigations.org/2018/03/08/revealed-names-alec-lobbyist-legislator-members/</u> ²⁶³ Center for Media and Democracy, "Justice Denied: 71 ALEC Bills in 2013 Make It Harder to Hold Corporations Accountable for Causing Injury or Death," July 10, 2013, <u>https://www.prwatch.org/news/2013/07/12172/justice-denied-71-alec-bills-2013-make-it-harder-hold-corporations-accountable-ca</u>

²⁶⁴ *Georgia-Pacific Consumer Products LP v. Soundview Paper Holdings LLC*, Case No. 1:15-cv-01182-TWT (N.D. Ga.)(complaint filed April 16, 2015).

²⁶⁵ See docket for *Georgia-Pacific Consumer Products LP v. Soundview Paper Holdings LLC*, Case No. 1:15-cv-01182-TWT (N.D. Ga.).

 ²⁶⁶ Kat Greene, "4th Circ. Trims \$4.6M Georgia-Pacific Trademark Award," *Law36o*, March 3o, 2015, <u>https://www.law36o.com/articles/637402/4th-circ-trims-4-6m-georgia-pacific-trademark-award</u>, discussing *Georgia-Pacific Consumer Products LP v. von Drehle Corp.*, Case No. 13-2003 (4th Cir. Ct. App.)(March 3o, 2015)
²⁶⁷ See docket for *Georgia-Pacific W&FS (MS) LLC v. Johnson's Fence, LLC*, Case No. 5:2014cv00121 (S.D. Miss.)
²⁶⁸ Ibid.

²⁶⁹ Luis Alonso Lugo, "Koch brothers sue Venezuela to collect \$409 million," *Associated Press*, December 1, 2017, <u>http://www.businessinsider.com/ap-koch-brothers-sue-venezuela-to-collect-409-million-2017-12</u> and Chuck Stanley, "Koch Industries Takes Venezuela To Court Over \$400M Award," *Law360*, November 29, 2017, <u>https://www.law360.com/articles/989355/koch-industries-takes-venezuela-to-court-over-400m-award</u>, discussing *Koch Minerals Sàrl v. Bolivarian Republic of Venezuela*, Case No. 1:17-cv-02559 (D.D.C.)(filed November 28, 2017), <u>https://www.courthousenews.com/wp-content/uploads/2017/12/KOCH-VENEZUELA.pdf</u>

²⁷⁰ David G. Savage, "Justices slash Exxon Valdez verdict," *Los Angeles Times*, June 26, 2008, <u>http://articles.latimes.com/2008/jun/26/nation/na-valdez26</u>

²⁷¹ American Association for Justice, *Do As I Say*, *Not As I Sue* (October 2011),

https://www.justice.org/sites/default/files/file-uploads/Do_As_I_Say_Not_As_I_Sue_2011.pdf

²⁷² See member directories and conference agenda attached to meeting agendas for Civil Justice Task Force meetings (on file with CJ&D).

²⁷³ Jamie Corey, "Revealed: Names of Alec Lobbyist and Legislator Members," *Documented*, March 8, 2018, http://documentedinvestigations.org/2018/03/08/revealed-names-alec-lobbyist-legislator-members/

²⁷⁴ Matthew Lee, "Fired top diplomat Tillerson says he's praying for America," *Associated Press*, March 16, 2018, <u>https://www.apnews.com/fdf35c6ca3234ff5be968d88070dooea</u>

²⁷⁵ Daniel Gilbert, "Exxon CEO Joins Suit Citing Fracking Concerns," *Wall Street Journal*, February 20, 2014, <u>https://www.wsj.com/articles/exxon-ceo-joins-suit-citing-fracking-concerns-1392935737</u>

²⁷⁶ As the Wall Street Journal reported, "The Exxon chief isn't the most vocal or well-known opponent of the tower. He and his wife are suing under the name of their horse ranch, Bar RR Ranches LLC, along with three other couples. The lead plaintiffs are former U.S. House Majority Leader Dick Armey and his wife, who have become fixtures at Town Council meetings." Ibid. Dick Armey essentially led the so-called "tort reform" movement in Congress while he was there. He once "compared trial lawyers to 'a bunch of vultures eating off the carcasses."" David E. Rosenbaum, "House Passes Bill Limiting Year 2000 Liability," *New York Times*, May 13, 1999,

https://www.nytimes.com/1999/05/13/business/house-passes-bill-limiting-year-2000-liability.html

²⁷⁷ Daniel Gilbert, "Exxon CEO Joins Suit Citing Fracking Concerns," *Wall Street Journal*, February 20, 2014, <u>https://www.wsj.com/articles/exxon-ceo-joins-suit-citing-fracking-concerns-1392935737</u>

 ²⁷⁸ Center for Justice & Democracy, Not in My Backyard: The Hypocrites of "Tort Reform" (December 2000), https://centerjd.org/content/white-paper-not-my-backyard-hypocrites-%E2%80%9Ctort-reform%E2%80%9D
²⁷⁹ Mobil Cerro Negro, Ltd. v. Bolivarian Republic of Venezuela, 863 F.3d 96 (2017),

https://cases.justia.com/federal/appellate-courts/ca2/15-707/15-707-2017-07-11.pdf. See also, Jonathan Stempel, "Exxon blocked from enforcing Venezuela arbitration award: U.S. appeals court," Reuters, July 11, 2017, https://www.reuters.com/article/us-exxon-mobil-venezuela/exxon-blocked-from-enforcing-venezuelaarbitration-award-u-s-appeals-court-idUSKBN19W1SU; Natalie Olivo, "Exxon Mobil Wants To Enforce \$188M Venezuela Award," *Law360*, March 14, 2017, <u>https://www.law360.com/articles/901629/exxon-mobil-wants-to-enforce-188m-venezuela-award</u>

²⁸⁰ Jonathan Stempel, "U.S. judge dismisses Exxon lawsuit to stop climate change probes," *Reuters*, March 29, 2018, https://www.reuters.com/article/us-exxon-mobil-lawsuit/u-s-judge-dismisses-exxon-lawsuit-to-stop-climate-change-probes-idUSKBN1H536R

²⁸¹ Ibid.

²⁸² Jamie Corey, "Revealed: Names of Alec Lobbyist and Legislator Members," *Documented*, March 8, 2018, <u>http://documentedinvestigations.org/2018/03/08/revealed-names-alec-lobbyist-legislator-members/</u>

²⁸³ Center for Responsive Politics, "Clients lobbying on H.R.985: Fairness in Class Action Litigation and Furthering Asbestos Claim Transparency Act of 2017," <u>https://www.opensecrets.org/lobby/billsum.php?id=hr985-115</u> and "Clients lobbying on H.R.720: Lawsuit Abuse Reduction Act of 2017,"

https://www.opensecrets.org/lobby/billsum.php?id=hr720-115

²⁸⁴ Dorothy Atkins, 'Sony, Warner Settle Amway Copyright 'Ambush' Suit," *Law360*, January 4, 2017, <u>https://www.law360.com/articles/877380/sony-warner-settle-amway-copyright-ambush-suit</u>. *See also*, David McAfee, "UMG, Sony, Warner Plotted Copyright Ambush, Amway Says," *Law360*, April 4, 2014, <u>https://www.law360.com/articles/525417</u>

²⁸⁵ Dorothy Atkins, 'Sony, Warner Settle Amway Copyright 'Ambush' Suit," *Law360*, January 4, 2017, <u>https://www.law360.com/articles/877380/sony-warner-settle-amway-copyright-ambush-suit</u>

²⁸⁶ John Wiegand. "Amway sues insurance providers over denial of claims tied to copyright settlement," *MiBiz*, June 11, 2017, <u>https://mibiz.com/item/24861-amway-sues-insurance-providers-over-denial-of-claims-tied-to-</u> <u>copyright-settlement</u>; Nicole Narea, "Amway Seeks To Force Insurers To Cover Copyright Damages," *Law360*, April 28, 2017, <u>https://www.law360.com/articles/918223/amway-seeks-to-force-insurers-to-cover-copyright-</u> <u>damages</u>

²⁸⁷ Cara Salvatore, "Insurer, Amway Fight Over Coverage Of Copyright Settlement," *Law360*, April 27, 2018, <u>https://www.law360.com/articles/1038061/insurer-amway-fight-over-coverage-of-copyright-settlement</u>. *See also*, docket for *Alticor Global Holdings Inc. v. American International Specialty Lines Insurance Company*, Case No. 1:17-cv-00388 (W.D. Mich.)

²⁸⁸ See member directories and conference agenda attached to meeting agendas for Civil Justice Task Force meetings (on file with CJ&D); Jamie Corey, "Revealed: Names of Alec Lobbyist and Legislator Members," *Documented*, March 8, 2018, <u>http://documentedinvestigations.org/2018/03/08/revealed-names-alec-lobbyist-legislator-members/</u>

²⁸⁹ U.S. Chamber of Commerce, "ILR Welcomes Richard Winget as Vice President of State Affairs," November 29, 2009, <u>https://www.uschamber.com/press-release/ilr-welcomes-richard-winget-vice-president-state-affairs</u>. *See also*, ALEC member directories attached to meeting agendas for Civil Justice Task Force meetings (on file with CJ&D).

²⁹⁰ U.S. Chamber of Commerce, "ILR Welcomes Richard Winget as Vice President of State Affairs," November 29, 2009, <u>https://www.uschamber.com/press-release/ilr-welcomes-richard-winget-vice-president-state-affairs</u>
²⁹¹ Center for Media and Democracy, "Exposed: Drug Liability Act,"

https://www.alecexposed.org/w/images/3/3b/5S2-Drug_Liability_Act_Exposed.pdf

(viewed May 25, 2018).

²⁹² Center for Media and Democracy, "ALEC & Health Care,"

https://www.alecexposed.org/wiki/ALEC & Health Care (viewed May 25, 2018).

²⁹³ Natalie Olivo, "Fed. Circ. Won't Put \$455M Bayer Patent Award On Hold," Law360, May 17, 2017,

https://www.law36o.com/articles/925003/fed-circ-won-t-put-455m-bayer-patent-award-on-hold; Cara Bayles,

"Fed. Circ. Denies Dow Review Of \$455M Bayer Patent Award," Law360, May 12, 2017,

https://www.law36o.com/articles/923672/fed-circ-denies-dow-review-of-455m-bayer-patent-award

²⁹⁴ Dow AgroSciences, LLC v. Bayer CropScience AG, 2017 U.S. LEXIS 7244 (December 4, 2017).

²⁹⁵ Bayer Pharma AG v. Watson Laboratories, Inc., Case No. 1:12-CV-00517 (D. Del.)(complaint filed April 25, 2012).
²⁹⁶ Ryan Davis, "Fed. Circ. Axes Bayer ED Drug Patent, Reversing Lower Court," Law360, November 1, 2017,

https://www.law36o.com/articles/980668/fed-circ-axes-bayer-ed-drug-patent-reversing-lower-court, discussing Bayer Pharma AG v. Watson Laboratories, Inc., 874 F.3d 1316 (Fed. Cir.) (November 1, 2017).

²⁹⁷ See docket for Bayer Health Pharmacueticals, Inc. v. RJ Health Systems International LLC, Case No. 2:15-cv-06952-KSH-CLW (D. N.J.)

²⁹⁸ Bayer Healthcare Pharms., Inc. v. RJ Health Sys. Int'l LLC, 2016 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 85159 (D. N.J.)(June 30, 2016).
See also, Bayer Healthcare Pharms. Inc. v. RJ Health Sys. Int'l LLC, 2017 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 8060 (D. N.J.)(January 20, 2017); Bayer Health Pharmacueticals, Inc. v. RJ Health Systems International LLC, Case No. 2:15-cv-06952-KSH-CLW (D. N.J.)(complaint filed September 18, 2015),

https://www.courtlistener.com/recap/gov.uscourts.njd.324864.1.o.pdf

²⁹⁹ See, e.g., Willard J. Moody, Jr., "Asbestos Disease Among Railroad Workers,"

https://www.ibew1920.org/PageRequest/Documents/OtherDocumentsPDFS/Asbestos.pdf (viewed May 25, 2018); Christine Oliver et al., "Asbestos-related disease in railroad workers. A cross-sectional study," 131 Am. Rev. Respir. Dis. 499 (April 1985), https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/3873192

³⁰⁰ Center for Media and Democracy, "Burlington Northern Santa Fe Railroad,"

https://www.sourcewatch.org/index.php/Burlington Northern Santa Fe Railroad#Support for the American Legislative Exchange Council (viewed May 25, 2018).

³⁰¹ See member directories and conference agenda attached to meeting agendas for Civil Justice Task Force meetings (on file with CJ&D); Jamie Corey, "Revealed: Names of Alec Lobbyist and Legislator Members," *Documented*, March 8, 2018, <u>http://documentedinvestigations.org/2018/03/08/revealed-names-alec-lobbyist-legislator-members/</u>

³⁰² Center for Media and Democracy, "Justice Denied: 71 ALEC Bills in 2013 Make It Harder to Hold Corporations Accountable for Causing Injury or Death," July 10, 2013, <u>https://www.prwatch.org/news/2013/07/12172/justice-</u> denied-71-alec-bills-2013-make-it-harder-hold-corporations-accountable-ca

³⁰³ Andrew Strickler, "Ex-BNSF Atty Wants Suit Over \$4.3M Verdict In Federal Court," *Law360*, May 9, 2018, <u>https://www.law360.com/articles/1041837/ex-bnsf-atty-wants-suit-over-4-3m-verdict-in-federal-court</u>

³⁰⁴ Adam Lidgett, "BNSF Loses Tussle Over Wash. Rest-Break Rule," *Law360*, February 13, 2018, https://www.law360.com/articles/1012218/bnsf-loses-tussle-over-wash-rest-break-rule

³⁰⁵ Daniel Wiessner, "BNSF Railway sues EEOC over disability bias complaints," *Westlaw News*, April 25, 2018, <u>https://www.reuters.com/article/employment-bnsf/bnsf-railway-sues-eeoc-over-disability-bias-complaints-</u>

idUSL1N1S224W. See also, Danielle Nichole Smith, "BNSF Says EEOC Flouted ADA With Enforcement Actions," *Law360*, April 24, 2018, <u>https://www.law360.com/transportation/articles/1036887/bnsf-says-eeoc-flouted-ada-with-enforcement-actions</u>

³⁰⁶ See, e.g., Carmen Germaine, "Pfizer To Pay \$486M To Settle Celebrex, Bextra Securities MDL," *Law360*, August 2, 2016, <u>https://www.law360.com/articles/824096/pfizer-to-pay-486m-to-settle-celebrex-bextra-</u> <u>securities-mdl</u>; Jonathan Stempel, "Pfizer to pay \$325 million in Neurontin settlement," *Reuters*, June 2, 2014,

https://www.reuters.com/article/us-pfizer-neurontin-settlement/pfizer-to-pay-325-million-in-neurontin-

<u>settlement-idUSKBNoED1IS20140602</u>; Lisa Girion, Myron Levin and David Willman, "Pfizer Agrees to Settle Suit Over Diabetes Drug Rezulin," *Los Angeles Times*, December 22, 2001,

<u>http://articles.latimes.com/2001/dec/22/news/mn-17267;</u> "Lawsuit Settled Over Heart Valve Implicated in About 300 Deaths," *Associated Press*, January 25, 1992,

https://www.nytimes.com/1992/01/25/us/lawsuit-settled-over-heart-valve-implicated-in-about-300-deaths.html ³⁰⁷ Editorial, "Don't expose drug makers to business-killing lawsuits," *Detroit News*, December 18, 2006.

³⁰⁸ "Pfizer closes Kalamazoo, Ann Arbor research sites," *Kalamazoo Gazette*, January 22, 2007; "Pfizer to Shut Down 3 Michigan Facilities," *ClickOn Detroit*, January 22, 2007. Michigan's economic forecast for the next few years appears bleak. Leading scholars at the University of Michigan Institute of Labor and Industrial Relations conducted a study in February 2007, to look at the expected impact the Pfizer closings would have on the Michigan economy. The report predicted that 6,133 jobs would be lost by 2009 with an estimated 5,314 people leaving the state and \$629.5 million in personal income lost by 2012. Other executives in the pharmaceutical industry did not expect to be able to absorb the work force within the state with such a large job loss. "Shock waves loom from Pfizer exit. Researchers forecast grim effects on jobs," *Ann Arbor News*, May 12, 2007.
³⁰⁹ "One Year Later: Pfizer's Ann Arbor Site Nearly Deserted," *Kalamazoo Gazette*, January 21, 2008.
³¹⁰ See Carl Deal and Joanne Doroshow, *The CALA Files: The Secret Campaign by Big Tobacco and Other Major Industries to Take Away Your Rights* (2000), https://centerjd.org/content/cala-files-secret-campaign-big-tobacco-and-other-major-industries-take-away-your-rights; Louisiana Citizens Against Lawsuit Abuse, "IRS Application for Recognition of Exemption Under Section 501(a), Form 1024, Attachments" (filed October 22, 1993).
³¹¹ See member directories and conference agenda attached to meeting agendas for Civil Justice Task Force meetings (on file with CJ&D).

 ³¹² Jamie Corey, "Revealed: Names of Alec Lobbyist and Legislator Members," *Documented*, March 8, 2018, http://documentedinvestigations.org/2018/03/08/revealed-names-alec-lobbyist-legislator-members/
³¹³ Center for Justice & Democracy, *Not in My Backyard: The Hypocrites of "Tort Reform"* (December 2000), https://centerjd.org/content/white-paper-not-my-backyard-hypocrites-%E2%80%9Ctort-reform%E2%80%9D
³¹⁴ *Pfizer Inc. v. Johnson & Johnson*, Case No. 2:17-cv-04180-JCJ (E.D. Pa.)(complaint filed September 20, 2017). *See also*, Rachel Graf, "J&J Moves To Duck Pfizer Suit Over Remicade Biosimilar," *Law360*, November 29, 2017, https://www.law360.com/articles/989220/j-j-moves-to-duck-pfizer-suit-over-remicade-biosimilar; Nathan
Bomey, "Pfizer accuses Johnson & Johnson of 'anticompetitive practices' in lawsuit," *USA Today*, September 20, 2017, https://www.usatoday.com/story/money/2017/09/20/pfizer-accuses-johnson-johnson-anticompetitivepractices-lawsuit/684374001/; Caroline Humer, "Pfizer files suit against J&J over Remicade contracts," *Reuters*, September 20, 2017, https://www.reuters.com/article/us-pfizer-trial-johnson-johnson/pfizer-files-suit-against-jjover-remicade-contracts-idUSKCN1BV1S8

³¹⁵ Caroline Humer, "Pfizer files suit against J&J over Remicade contracts," *Reuters*, September 20, 2017, <u>https://www.reuters.com/article/us-pfizer-trial-johnson/pfizer-files-suit-against-jj-over-remicade-contracts-idUSKCN1BV1S8</u>

³¹⁶ Michelle Casady, "Pfizer Loses Bid To Stop Rebate Disclosures To Lawmakers," *Law360*, October 2, 2017, https://www.law360.com/articles/969986/pfizer-loses-bid-to-stop-rebate-disclosures-to-lawmakers, discussing *Pfizer v. Texas Health and Human Services Commission*, Case No. 1:16-cv-01228-LY (W.D. Tex.)(findings of fact and conclusions of law filed September 29, 2017).

³¹⁷ Rick Archer, "Pfizer Says Insurers Owe \$30M For Off-Label Marketing Suit," Law360,

February 14, 2018, <u>https://www.law36o.com/articles/1012313/pfizer-says-insurers-owe-30m-for-off-label-marketing-suit</u>

³¹⁸ See docket for Pfizer Inc. v. The North River Insurance Company, (D. Del.)

³¹⁹ Open Secrets, "Clients lobbying on H.R.985: Fairness in Class Action Litigation and Furthering Asbestos Claim Transparency Act of 2017," <u>https://www.opensecrets.org/lobby/billsum.php?id=hr985-115</u>

³²⁰ Teva also registered its Director of State Government Affairs for ALEC's 2017 annual meeting. *See* Jamie Corey, "Revealed: Names of ALEC Lobbyist and Legislator Members," *Documented*, March 8, 2018, http://documentedinvestigations.org/2018/03/08/revealed-names-alec-lobbyist-legislator-members/

³²¹ Jeff Montgomery, "Teva, Forest Settle Patent Fight Over \$759M Namenda XR," *Law360*, July 25, 2016, <u>https://www.law360.com/articles/820949/teva-forest-settle-patent-fight-over-759m-namenda-xr</u>. For complaint, *see Teva Pharmaceuticals USA, Inc. v. Forest Laboratories*, 2013 WL 6631944 (D. Del.)(filed December 5, 2013). ³²² Representaciones E Investigaciones Medicas, S.A. DE C.V. v. Abdala, 2016 WL 5391648 (N.Y. Sup. Ct.)(complaint filed September 27, 2016). See also, Suevon Lee, "Teva Alleges Fraud In \$2B Purchase Of Mexican Drug Co.," *Law360*, September 27, 2016, <u>https://www.law360.com/articles/845376/teva-alleges-fraud-in-2b-purchase-of-mexican-drug-co</u>

³²³ William Gorta, "Judge Tosses Fraud Claims In \$2.3B Teva Acquisition Suit," Law360,

August 2, 2017, <u>https://www.law36o.com/articles/950849/judge-tosses-fraud-claims-in-2-3b-teva-acquisition-suit</u>, discussing *Representaciones E Investigaciones Medicas*, *S.A. DE C.V. v. Abdala*, 2017 WL 3283470 (N.Y. Sup.)(decision and order July 31, 2017).

³²⁴ Matt Fair, "Teva Settles Case Over Alleged Info Sharing With Rival CEO," *Law360*, April 26, 2018, <u>https://www.law360.com/articles/1037560/teva-settles-case-over-alleged-info-sharing-with-rival-ceo</u>. *See also*,

Linda Loyd, "Sex, drugs, and sharing trade secrets," *Philadelphia Inquirer*, July 12, 2017,

http://www.philly.com/philly/business/sex-drugs-and-sharing-trade-secrets-20170712.html and Dani Kass, "Teva Targets Ex-Exec Who Dated, Gave Info To Apotex CEO," *Law360*, July 7, 2017,

https://www.law36o.com/articles/942334/teva-targets-ex-exec-who-dated-gave-info-to-apotex-ceo, discussing *Teva Pharmaceuticals USA, Inc. v. Sandhu*, Case No. 2:17-cv-03031-TON (E.D. Pa.)(complaint filed July 7, 2017). ³²⁵ Open Secrets, "Clients lobbying on H.R.985: Fairness in Class Action Litigation and Furthering Asbestos Claim

Transparency Act of 2017," <u>https://www.opensecrets.org/lobby/billsum.php?id=hrg85-115</u>

³²⁶ Barrett J. Brunsman, "P&G court battle over Crest Whitestrips decided," *Cincinnati Business Courier*, August 25, 2016, https://www.bizjournals.com/cincinnati/news/2016/08/25/p-g-court-battle-over-crest-whitestrips-

<u>decided.html</u>; Barrett J. Brunsman, "P&G settles lawsuit over teeth-whitening strips," *Cincinnati Business Courier*, November 3, 2014, <u>https://www.bizjournals.com/cincinnati/news/2014/11/03/p-g-settles-lawsuit-over-teeth-whitening-strips.html</u>

³²⁷ Barrett J. Brunsman, "P&G sues competitor for 'flagrant act of piracy,'" *Cincinnati Business Courier*, March 21, 2017, <u>https://www.bizjournals.com/cincinnati/news/2017/03/20/p-g-sues-competitor-for-flagrant-act-of-piracy.html</u>

³²⁸ Barrett Brunsman, "P&G settles 'piracy' lawsuit with competitor," *Cincinnati Business Courier*, March 13, 2018, <u>https://www.bizjournals.com/cincinnati/news/2018/03/13/p-g-settles-piracy-lawsuit-with-competitor.html</u>

³²⁹ *Procter & Gamble Company v. Quantificare Inc.*, 288 F.Supp.3d 1002 (order granting in part and denying in part motion to dismiss signed December 19, 2017); *Procter & Gamble Company v. Quantificare Inc.*, 2017 WL 4297206 (N.D. Cal.)(first amended complaint filed August 10, 2017).

³³⁰ See docket for *Procter & Gamble Company v. Quantificare Inc.*, Case No. 5:17-CV-03061 (N.D. Cal.)

³³¹ See docket for Procter & Gamble Company v. Apollo Health & Beauty Care Corporation, Case No. 1:16-CV-05673 (S.D.N.Y.)